
AnnuAl RepoRt 2015MAXI-CASH FInAnCIAl SeRVICeS CoRpoRAtIon ltD

M
A

X
I-C

A
SH

 FIn
A

n
C

IA
l SeRV

IC
eS C

o
Rpo

RA
tIo

n
 ltD

 
|  

A
n

n
uA

l Repo
Rt 2015



Board of directors
 Koh Wee Seng
 (Non-Executive Chairman)
 Ng Leok Cheng
 (Chief Executive Officer)
 Koh Lee Hwee
 (Non-Executive Director)
 Ko Lee Meng
 (Non-Executive Director)
 Tan Keh Yan, Peter

(Lead Independent Director)
 Lee Sai Sing
 (Independent Director)
         Goh Bee Leong
      (Independent Director)

company secretaries
 Lim Swee Ann (CPA, ACIS)
 Janet Tan, LLB (Hons)
 

registered office
 80 Raffles Place
 #32-01 UOB Plaza 1
 Singapore 048624
 Tel:  +65 6225 2626
 Fax: +65 6557 0765

share registrar
 B.A.C.S. Private Limited
 8 Robinson Road #03-00
 ASO Building
 Singapore 048544 

sponsor
 Canaccord Genuity Singapore Pte. Ltd.
 77 Robinson Road #21-02
 Singapore 068896

auditor
 Ernst & Young LLP
 One Raffles Quay
 North Tower Level 18
 Singapore 048583

 Partner-in-charge
 Tan Peck Yen
 (Chartered Accountant, a member  
 of the Institute of Singapore   
 Chartered Accountants)
 (Since the financial year ended 31  
 December 2013)

principal Bankers
 United Overseas Bank Limited
 Oversea-Chinese Banking
 Corporation Limited
 DBS Bank Ltd.

corporate
information

This annual report has been prepared by the Company and its contents have been reviewed by the Company’s sponsor (“Sponsor”), 
Canaccord Genuity Singapore Pte. Ltd., for compliance with the relevant rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (“SGX-ST”). The Sponsor has not independently verified the contents of this annual report. This annual report has not been 
examined or approved by the SGX-ST and the SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the contents of this annual report, including 
the correctness of any of the statements or opinions made, or reports contained in this annual report.
The contact person for the Sponsor is Ms Goh Mei Xian, Associate Director and Deputy Head of Continuing Sponsorship, 
Canaccord Genuity Singapore Pte. Ltd., at 77 Robinson Road #21-02 Singapore 068896, telephone (65) 6854-6160.



Contents
Message from Non-Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 2

Business Review        4

Board of Directors       6

Key Management        8

Corporate Social Responsibility      11

Financial Highlights       12

Corporate Governance Report      13

Financial Report        35

MAXI-CASH FINANCIAL SERVICES CORPORATION LTD 1



ANNuAl REpORt 20152

Dear shareholDers

On behalf of the Board of Directors, we are pleased to 
present to you Maxi-Cash Financial Services Corporation 
ltd’s annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 
2015 (“FY2015”).

the year 2015 was a challenging period for both the industry 
and the Group as Singapore’s retail sales (excluding 
motor vehicle sales) volume contracted 1.1%1 year-on-
year, extending the 0.7% decline in the previous year. 
Additionally, volatile gold prices and rising interest rates also 
continued to beset the Group in the course of 2015. Despite 
these headwinds, the Group has successfully delivered a 
commendable set of results.

For FY2015, the Group recorded another year of good 
revenue growth. Revenue increased by S$11.5 million 
to S$121.1 million, representing a 10.5% increase from 
S$109.6 million recorded in the preceding year. this was 
primarily driven by the increase in interest income and 
sales from the retail and trading of pre-owned jewellery and 
watches.

Our efforts in managing our costs through improving 
operational efficiency are seen to have paid off as the 
Group’s profitability continues to grow through FY2015. 
Our earnings per ordinary shares more than doubled from 
0.32 cents recorded in the preceding year to 0.68 cents 
in FY2015. the Group’s cash position also continued to 
remain healthy at S$9.5 million as at 31 December 2015.

1https://www.mti.gov.sg/ResearchRoom/SiteAssets/pages/Economic-
Survey-of-Singapore-2015/FullReport_AES2015.pdf 

Moving aheaD to FY2016

While the Group may face a challenging environment in 
the year ahead given ongoing market volatility, we remain 
confident in our ability to seek out profitable opportunities 
for the Group, and to deliver growth to our business through 
innovation.

We will continue to capitalise on our strong “Maxi-Cash” 
brand, and our largest retail network in Singapore to increase 
our pledge book to help mitigate the impact of volatile gold 
prices and rising interest rates, and deliver growth. 

In addition, we have plans to further grow our retail network 
in strategic locations, and ramp up our marketing efforts 
to achieve greater brand differentiation. the use of digital 
media platforms for engagement will be a notable feature in 
our next phase of marketing as we witness a shift towards 
a younger clientele for our pawnbroking business in recent 
years.

We will also remain focused on improving the operational 
efficiency of our stores in the course of the year in response 
to rising operating costs. We will also remain committed to 
continuously refine and improve our work processes with 
an added emphasis on staff training to ensure that Maxi-
Cash will be consistently able to deliver high standards of 
customer service, and stay ahead of competition. 

Message froM NoN-executive chairMaN
aNd chief executive officer
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coMMuNity eNgageMeNt

In FY2015, Maxi-Cash continues to be actively involved 
in its Corporate Social Responsibility and community 
outreach initiatives, stemming from its firm belief in aligning 
its business to meet societal needs.

Over the past seven years, the Group has rallied its 
employees to participate in corporate initiatives which 
instill social goodwill and community engagement. At the 
corporate level, Maxi-Cash continues to pledge contributions 
to various beneficiaries. through such altruistic pursuits, 
we hope to play a role in inspiring other organisations and 
individuals to be more socially-aware of how they can help 
the less fortunate.

aCknowleDgeMents

We would like to take this opportunity to welcome Ms Goh 
Bee Leong, who was appointed as Independent Director 
to our Board on 19 October 2015. Ms Goh has accrued 
40 years of experience in the healthcare industry, where 
she held several senior management positions across 
diversified functions, including manufacturing, quality 
control, and product development. 

Message froM NoN-executive chairMaN
aNd chief executive officer

Finally, I would also like to thank all our employees for their 
hard work in helping the Group deliver such a strong set 
of results, as well as our shareholders for their unwavering 
confidence and support. the Group will continue to work 
diligently to deliver on our promise of enhancing value for 
all our shareholders.

koh wee seng
Non-Executive Chairman

ng leok Cheng
Chief Executive Officer
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PawNbrokiNg busiNess 

Revenue from the Group’s pawnbroking business grew to 
S$28.1 million in FY2015, an increase of 8.5% from S$25.9 
million recorded in the preceding year. In FY2015, profit after 
tax for this business segment amounted to approximately 
S$3.2 million, up 77.8% from S$1.8 million in the preceding 
year. 

In FY2015, the Group continued the strategic expansion of 
its retail network with the opening of a new store at Punggol 
plaza in the North-East zone. As the Group seeks to grow 
its pawnbroking business and solidify Maxi-Cash’s market 
leadership, we remain committed in delivering an enhanced 
customer experience in each and every one of our stores. 

At present, Maxi-Cash’s pawnshop and retail network in 
Singapore comprises 40 outlets, which are conveniently 
located near bus interchanges and MRT stations across the 
island to maximise accessibility for our customers.

busiNess
review
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busiNess
review

retail aNd tradiNg of Pre-owNed Jewellery 
anD watChes

The Group’s retail and trading of pre-owned jewellery and 
watches business segment recorded a revenue of S$92.9 
million in FY2015, achieving a 11.0% increase from S$83.7 
million recorded in the preceding year. 

This business segment’s success is built upon our 
customers’ confidence in the quality of the pre-owned 
jewellery and watches sold at our stores, a result of our 
ongoing commitment to fair trading and transparency in our 
practices. Such best practices have been recognised by 
the Consumers Association of Singapore (“CASE”), which 
awarded us with the Casetrust accreditation since 2014. 

In 2015, the Group reinforced its market-leading position 
with the introduction of new initiatives for its retail and trading 
business. We launched a jewellery membership to provide 
our Gold n Gems members with an array of privileges, 
including member’s discount on  pre-owned jewellery and 
watches, gifts and exclusive treats. 

In addition, the Group also took active steps to enhance 
its customer service and sought new ways to engage its 
younger clientele base through the use of digital media 
platforms. looking ahead, we intend to conceptualise 
more value-added services that will meet the varied needs 
of customers, and also further differentiate us from the 
competition. 
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Banking) with American Express bank, a position he held 
for three years until 1993. From 1993 to 2014, he was a 
Director of Datapulse Technology Limited, a company 
listed on the mainboard of the SGX-St. Mr Ng also sits as 
an Independent Director on the board of TT International 
limited, a company listed on the mainboard of the SGX-St. 
Mr Ng holds a Bachelor degree in Business Administration 
(Honours) from the National university of Singapore.

koh lee hwee

was our CEO since the Group’s listing on the Singapore 
bourse in 2012. Mdm Koh stepped down from the position 
on 5 January 2015 and remained as an Exeutive Director of 
the Company. She was re-designated as a Non-Executive 
Director of the Company on 5 August 2015. prior to her 
appointment as the CEO of our Group, Mdm Koh was the 
Vice president (Manufacturing) / Executive Director of Aspial, 
where she oversaw and spearheaded the growth of Aspial’s 
jewellery manufacturing division and was responsible for 
the overall production plans, technology, management and 
development of Aspial’s jewellery production. Mdm Koh has 
more than 20 years of experience in the jewellery industry 
before joining the Company. Mdm Koh holds a Bachelor 
degree in Arts from the National university of Singapore.

koh wee seng

is our Non-Executive Chairman. He is also the president and 
CEO of Aspial Corporation limited (“Aspial”), its subsidiaries 
and associated companies (“Aspial Group”) and is 
responsible for the strategic planning, overall management 
and business development of Aspial Group. Since late 
1994 when the new management led by him took over the 
reins, Aspial Group has overcome the challenges posed by 
changing consumer demand by implementing wide ranging 
and fundamental changes in its jewellery business. Mr Koh 
has also successfully led Aspial’s diversification into the 
property and financial service businesses. Mr Koh holds 
a Bachelor degree in Business Administration from the 
National university of Singapore.

ng leok Cheng

was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Group on 5 
January 2015 and he oversees the overall management 
and business development of our Group. Mr Ng has been 
an Independent Director of the Group since April 2012 and 
has held the positions of Chairman of the Remuneration 
and Nominating Committees as well as member of the Audit 
Committee. He began his career with Kuwait Asia Bank as 
a Credit Officer in 1985. Between 1986 and 1989, he was 
with the credit and marketing division of United Overseas 
Bank as an Assistant Manager. He then joined ABN Bank 
as a Relationship Manager in 1989 before leaving to take 
up a similar position with Generale Bank in the same year. 
In 1990, he took up the position of Director (Corporate 

BoarD oF
DireCtors
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ko lee Meng

was appointed as our Non-Executive Director on 10 April 
2008. Mdm Ko has accumulated more than 25 years of 
experience in the jewellery industry. Mdm Ko helped to set 
up the merchandising team for our Company when it was 
incorporated in 2008. Mdm Ko is currently Non-Executive 
Director of Aspial and she is currently the Executive 
Director, Deputy Chairman and CEO of Global Premium 
Hotels. Mdm Ko holds a Bachelor degree in Arts from the 
National university of Singapore.

tan keh Yan, Peter

is our lead Independent Director. Between 1972 and 
2003, he was employed by DBS Bank ltd and last held 
the position of Managing Director of Enterprise Banking at 
DBS Bank Singapore. In early 2004, he joined Redwood 
Capital pte ltd, a wealth management and advisory firm as 
its Managing Director until 2005 when he left the company. 
Mr Tan sits as an Independent Director on the boards of 
two other companies listed on the SGX-ST, namely Asia 
Enterprises Holding Ltd and Sin Heng Heavy Machinery 
ltd. Mr tan graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree 
(Honours) from the university of Singapore in 1972 and 
from the University of California, Los Angeles, with a Master 
of Business Administration in 1985.

lee sai sing

is our Independent Director. He is presently the Executive 
Director of Maxi-Harvest Group, which focuses on 
investments in South East Asia. Mr lee has extensive 
experience in investing in unlisted and listed Asian equities. 
He is also involved in advising corporations in restructurings, 
pre-initial public offerings and initial public offerings. Mr 
Lee had worked in the fund management industry for 
many years in major financial institutions like Government 
of Singapore Investment Corp, BNParibas Private Bank 
and Maybank-Kim Eng. Mr lee graduated with a Bachelor 
degree in Applied Science (Computer Engineering) from 
Nanyang technological university in 1995.

goh Bee leong

was appointed as our Independent Director on 19 October 
2015. She comes with 40 years of extensive experience in 
the healthcare industry. During this time, she has held several 
senior management positions across diversified functions. 
these include manufacturing, quality control, product 
development and marketing of generic pharmaceuticals. 
Ms Goh has been with Haw Par Healthcare Limited since 
2003 and is currently serving as its General Manager 
(Manufacturing) and Director. Ms Goh holds a Bachelor 
of Science (pharmacy) from the National university of 
Singapore.    

BoarD oF
DireCtors
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Yeo Yen Phing

is our Assistant Finance Director and is responsible for 
the overall accounting and finance functions of our Group. 
Since our establishment, she has overseen and has been 
responsible for the implementation of financial policies, the 
coordination and maintenance of our Group’s accounting 
and internal control systems, budgeting, analysis of 
financial and accounting information, financial forecasts 
and compliance with audit and statutory requirements. Mdm 
Yeo joined Aspial in 2006 as an Assistant Finance Manager 
and rose to the rank of Senior Finance Manager in 2010. 
Subsequently in 2012, Mdm Yeo was appointed as Group 
Senior Finance Manager of our Group and rose to the rank 
of Assistant Finance Director in 2015. Before joining Aspial 
Group in 2006, Mdm Yeo was an Assistant Accountant 
at lingo technology pte ltd from 1990 to 1991 and a 
Senior Accountant with Keppel Land International Limited 
from 1991 to 2004. Mdm Yeo holds a Bachelor degree in 
Accountancy from the National University of Singapore and 
is a Chartered Accountant of Singapore.

chua wee kioNg

is our Group’s Director for Operations. His primary 
responsibility is to implement and enforce the operational 
processes and procedures at our pawnshops and retail 
outlets. Mr Chua is also responsible for ensuring that they 
are compliant with our Group’s policies and practices and 
with governmental regulatory aspects. He was an Executive 
with the public utility Board from 1990 to 1993 and was 
part of the pastoral staff at Faith Community Baptist Church 
between 1993 and 1999. From 1999 to 2003, he took on 
the role of Finance Executive at Faith Community Baptist 
Church. He also served as an Account Manager at touch 
Community Services from 2000 to 2003 before going 
on to join AJI International as a Business Development 
Manager from 2004 to 2005. prior to joining our Group in 
September 2008, Mr Chua was the General Manager at 
Goldin Enterprises pte ltd from 2005 to 2008, where he was 
responsible for its daily operational matters, maintenance of 
customer relationships and development of new businesses. 
Mr Chua holds a Bachelor degree in Arts from the National 
university of Singapore.

keY
ManageMent
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keY
ManageMent

eng seok Cheng MagDalene 

is our Group’s Assistant Brand Director and is in charge of 
brand management, planning, managing and implementing 
marketing strategies and brand budgets, and managing 
public relations and visual merchandising. prior to joining our 
Group in 2009, Mdm Eng was with Aspial from 1999 to 2008, 
where she last held the position of Senior Brand Manager 
and was responsible for developing and implementing brand 
strategies and planning and reviewing budgets for Aspial 
Group. She left Aspial in July 2008 to take up the position 
of Marketing Manager at Montblanc Singapore, where she 
was responsible for the overall operations of Montblanc’s 
wholesale and retail channels, establishing marketing plans, 
implementation of sales strategies, managing events and 
planning and reviewing budgetary matters. Mdm Eng holds 
a Bachelor degree in Science, Business Administration from 
the Oklahoma City university.

Phua hue tiaN 

is our Group’s Assistant Merchandising Director and is in 
charge of the inventory management team of our Group. She 
is also responsible for handling the auction process for our 
pawnbroking business and the product pricing and budget 
allocation at our retail outlets. Mdm phua has accumulated 
more than 30 years of experience in the jewellery industry. 
Over the years, she has worked at various jewellery 
companies and was involved in the retailing, wholesaling 
and export of jewellery. She joined poh Heng Jewellery as 
a Sales Executive in 1980 and was later promoted to Sales 
Manager. She then left poh Heng Jewellery in 1985 and 
was a Sales Manager with Singapore Jewellery Industries 
from 1986 to 1991. She later took on the same role as Sales 
Manager with Siang Hoa Goldsmith from 1992 to 1998. prior 
to joining our Group as our Senior Merchandising Manager 
in 2009, she was the purchasing Manager at Aspial from 
1999 to 2004 until she left to run her own jewellery business 
from 2005 to 2009. 
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CorPorate soCial
resPonsiBilitY

Maxi-Cash holds the firm belief of aligning its business to 
meet societal needs, which will serve to have an impact in 
advancing the social development of the less privileged.

Since 2009, the Group has energized and rallied its 
employees to embrace a strong spirit of volunteerism and 
community engagement, underpinned by donations and 
sponsorships at the corporate level. 2015 marked the 
Group’s seventh successive year of involvement in CSR 
activities and outreach initiatives, and Maxi-Cash intends to 
remain steadfast in its commitment. 

Over the years, beneficiaries of Maxi-Cash’s altruistic 
endeavours span different constituents and include the 
Singapore’s Children Society, Society for the Physically 
Disabled, Geylang East Home for the Aged, Singapore 
Chung Hwa Medical Institution and the Building Bridges 
EIpIC Centre at SpD@ tiong Bahru.

Maxi-Cash has leveraged its ubiquitous presence to drive 
customers in the neighbourhoods and communities where it 
operates to step forward and pledge support for community 
causes. Maxi-Cash has managed to use its scale for good, 
in its efforts to build an inclusive society.  

As a public listed company, the Group understands 
the need for balance between profitability and a social 
conscience. It is all about creating meaningful change, and 
rallying stakeholders, both staff and customers alike, to be 
committed in making a difference in the lives of the less 
privileged.
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FinanCial
highlights

Revenue 
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revenue

group’s Financial highlights

Profit before tax
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Maxi-Cash Financial Services Corporation Ltd (the “Company”) is committed to observing and maintaining high standards 
of corporate governance with specific reference made to the principles and guidelines as set out in the Code of Corporate 
Governance 2012 (the “Code”). This report describes the Company’s corporate governance practices with specific references 
to the Code pursuant to Rule 710 of the Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist (the “Catalist Rules”) of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”).

The Board of Directors (the “Board” or “Directors”) is pleased to report that the Company has complied with the Code for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2015 (“FY2015”), except where otherwise explained. In areas where we have not complied 
with the Code, the Company will continue to assess its needs and implement appropriate measures accordingly. 

BOARD MATTERS (Principles 1, 2 and 3)

Principle 1:  Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board 
is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the company. The Board works with the 
management of the company (the “Management”) to achieve this objective and the Management 
remains accountable to the Board.

Principle 2:  There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective 
judgment on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management and 10% shareholders. 
No individual or small group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision-
making.

Principle 3:   There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and the 
executives responsible for managing the company’s business. No one individual should represent a 
considerable concentration of power.

THE BOARD’S CONDUCT OF ITS AFFAIRS

The Board’s role is to:

l	 provide entrepreneurial leadership, set strategic directions, and ensure that the necessary financial and human 
resources are in place for the Group to meet its objectives;

l establish a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed;

l review the performance of the Management; and

l set the Group’s corporate values and ensure that obligations to shareholders and other stakeholders are understood and 
met.
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BOARD MATTERS (Principles 1, 2 and 3) (continued)

The Company has adopted internal guidelines setting forth matters that require the Board’s approval and clear directions have 
also been given to the Management that the following matters must be approved by the Board under such guidelines:

l		 Quarterly results announcements;

l		 Annual results and accounts;

l		 Declaration of interim dividends and proposal for final dividends;

l		 Convening of shareholders’ meetings;

l		 Authorisation of merger and acquisition transactions; and

l		 Authorisation of major transactions.

The Board has, without abdicating its responsibility, delegated certain matters to specialised committees of the Board. These 
committees include the Audit Committee (the “AC”), the Nominating Committee (the “NC”) and the Remuneration Committee (the 
“RC”) (collectively, the “Board Committees”). The Board Committees assist the Board in carrying out and discharging its duties 
and responsibilities efficiently and effectively. The majority of the members of the Board Committees, including the Chairman, 
are independent. The Board Committees function within clearly defined terms of references and operating procedures. The 
effectiveness of the Board is also reviewed by the Board on an annual basis. 

For FY2015, the Board had met on a quarterly basis as warranted. Ad hoc meetings were also convened to discuss and 
deliberate on urgent substantive matters or issues. The constitution1 of the Company (the “Constitution”) provides for the 
Board to convene meetings via telephone conferencing and video conferencing. The details of the number of Board and Board 
Committees meetings held in FY2015 and the attendance of each Director at those meetings are disclosed below:

1 Pursuant to the recent amendments of the Companies Act (Chapter 50 of Singapore), the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the 
Company are deemed by law to be merged to form the Constitution of the Company.
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BOARD MATTERS (Principles 1, 2 and 3) (continued)

Board
Audit 

Committee
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Name of Director

No. of 
meeting 

held

No. of 
meeting 

attended

No. of 
meeting 

held

No. of 
meeting 

attended

No. of 
meeting 

held

No. of 
meeting 

attended

No. of 
meeting 

held

No. of 
meeting 

attended
Koh Wee Seng 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1
Ng Leok Cheng 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1
Koh Lee Hwee 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1
Ko Lee Meng 4 3 4 3 1 0 1 0
Tan Keh Yan, Peter 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1
Lee Sai Sing 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1
Goh Bee Leong1 1 1 – – – – – –

1 Ms Goh Bee Leong was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company on 19 October 2015 and was subsequently appointed as 
the Chairman of the NC and a member of each of the AC and the RC on 17 February 2016.

While the Board considers Directors’ attendance at Board meetings important, it should not be the only criterion to measure their 
contributions. The Board also takes into account the contributions by Board members in other forms, including periodical reviews 
and the provision of guidance and advice on various matters relating to the Group.

Upon appointment of a new Director, the Company will provide a formal letter to the Director setting out, amongst others, his 
duties and obligations. Newly appointed Directors will be briefed on the Group’s business, its strategic directions and corporate 
governance policies. Familiarisation visits can be organised, if necessary, to facilitate a better understanding of the Group’s 
business operations. For new appointed Directors who do not have prior experience as a director of a public listed company 
in Singapore, they will attend training courses organised by the Singapore Institute of Directors or other training institutions in 
areas such as accounting, legal and industry-specific knowledge, where appropriate, in connection with their duties. In October 
2015, the newly appointed Director, Ms Goh Bee Leong, attended a course conducted by the Singapore Institute of Directors to 
familiarise herself with the rules and responsibilities of a director of a public listed company in Singapore.

Regular training, particularly on risk management, corporate governance and key changes in the relevant regulatory 
requirements and financial reporting standards, will be arranged and funded by the Company for all Directors, from time to time. 
During the period under review, Directors are provided with briefings and updates (i) on the developments in financial reporting 
and governance standards by the external auditors, Ernst & Young LLP; and (ii) on changes in the relevant laws and regulations 
pertaining to the Group’s business and changing commercial risks and business conditions of the Group by the management 
during the Board Committee meetings, so as to enable them to make well-informed decisions and to properly discharge their 
duties as Board or Board Committee members.
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BOARD MATTERS (Principles 1, 2 and 3) (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, the composition of the Board is as follows:

Name of Director     Appointment 
Position

Appointment 
Date

Re-election 
Date

Length of 
Service

Board 
Committee(s) 
Served on

Past and Present 
Directorship held 
in the Last Three 
(3) Years in Other 
Listed Companies

Academic and 
Professional
Qualifications/ 
Experience

Koh Wee Seng (1)   Chairman and 
Non-Executive 
Director

10 April 2008   25 April 2013 7 years
8 months

Nil Aspial Corporation 
Limited
LCD Global 
Investments Ltd

Bachelor of 
Business 
Administration, 
National University 
of Singapore

Ng Leok Cheng  Chief Executive 
Officer and 
Executive 
Director

5 January 2015 28 April 2015 1 year   Nil TT International 
Limited
Datapulse 
Technology 
Limited (past)

Bachelor of 
Business 
Administration 
(Honours), National 
University of 
Singapore

Koh Lee Hwee (1)    Non-Executive 
and Non-
Independent 
Director

10 April 2008   N.A. 7 years
8 months

Nominating
Committee

Aspial Corporation 
Limited

Bachelor of Arts, 
National University 
of Singapore

Ko Lee Meng (1) Non-Executive
Director and
Non-
Independent
Director

10 April 2008   N.A. 7 years
8 months

Audit 
Committee
Remuneration
Committee

Aspial Corporation 
Limited
Global Premium 
Hotels Limited

Bachelor of Arts, 
National University 
of Singapore

Tan Keh Yan, Peter Non-Executive
Director and
Lead 
Independent
Director

16 April 2012   25 April 2013 3 years
8 months    

Audit 
Committee 
(Chairman)
Nominating
Committee
Remuneration
Committee

Asia Enterprises 
Holding Ltd
Sin Heng Heavy 
Machinery Ltd
CHT (Holdings) Ltd

Bachelor of Science
(Honours),
University of 
Singapore

Master of Business
Administration,
University of 
California, USA
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BOARD MATTERS (Principles 1, 2 and 3) (continued)

Name of Director     Appointment 
Position

Appointment 
Date

Re-election 
Date

Length of 
Service

Board 
Committee(s) 
Served on

Past and Present 
Directorship held 
in the Last Three 
(3) Years in Other 
Listed Companies

Academic and 
Professional
Qualifications/ 
Experience

Lee Sai Sing Non-Executive 
Director and 
Independent 
Director

16 April 2012   28 April 2015 3 years
8 months    

Remuneration 
Committee 
(Chairman)
Nominating
Committee 
(Chairman)
Audit 
Committee 

Nil Bachelor of Applied 
Science (Computer 
Engineering), 
Nanyang 
Technological 
University, 
Singapore

Goh Bee Leong Non-Executive 
Director and 
Independent 
Director

19 October 2015 N.A. 2 months Nil (2) Nil Bachelor of Science
(Pharmacy),
University of 
Singapore

Notes: 

(1) Mr Koh Wee Seng, Mdm Koh Lee Hwee and Mdm Ko Lee Meng are siblings. 

(2) Ms Goh Bee Leong was subsequently appointed as the Chairman of the NC and a member of each of the AC and the RC on 17 February 
2016.

The Board has considered the present Board size and is satisfied that the current size facilitates effective decision-making and is 
appropriate for the nature and scope of the Group’s operations. 

The Board’s policy in identifying director nominees is primarily to have an appropriate mix of members with complementary skills, 
core competencies and experience that could effectively contribute to the Group, regardless of gender.  

To maintain or enhance the balance and diversity of the Board, the Board’s composition is reviewed by the NC to ensure that the 
Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience. The NC is of the view that the current Board composition provides 
a diversity of skills, experience and knowledge to the Company and provides a diversity of gender with four (4) male Directors 
and three (3) female Directors. The Board members collectively possess the necessary core competencies such as accounting, 
finance, investment, business and management experience, corporate governance, industry knowledge and strategic planning 
experience for the effective functioning of the Board and an informed decision-making process.

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are separate and distinct, each having their own areas of 
responsibilities. 
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BOARD MATTERS (Principles 1, 2 and 3) (continued)

The responsibilities of the Chairman include:

l	 leading the Board to ensure its effectiveness;

l		 setting agenda for Board meetings and ensuring adequate time for discussion;

l		 promoting openness and discussion during Board meetings;

l		 ensuring that Directors receive complete, adequate and timely information; 

l		 ensuring effective communication with the shareholders;  

l		 encouraging constructive relations within the Board and between the Board and the Management;

l		 facilitating effective contributions of the Non-Executive Directors; and

l		 promoting high standards of corporate governance.  

The Company believes that a distinctive separation of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer will 
ensure an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity for the Board to exercise independent 
decision-making. For FY2015, the positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are held by Mr Koh Wee Seng and 
Mr Ng Leok Cheng respectively.

The Board is of the view that there are sufficient safeguards and checks to ensure that the process of decision-making by the 
Board is independent and based on collective decisions without any individual or small group of individuals exercising any 
considerable concentration of power or influence.

For good corporate governance, the Board has appointed Mr Tan Keh Yan, Peter as the Lead Independent Director of the 
Company to address the concerns of the shareholders and employees in the event that interactions with the Non-Executive 
Chairman or Chief Executive Officer cannot satisfactorily resolve their concerns or where such channel of communications is 
considered inappropriate. Where necessary, the Lead Independent Director, together with other Independent Directors will meet 
without the presence of the other non-Independent Directors, and the Lead Independent Director will provide feedback to the 
Chairman if it is necessary.

The Independent Directors have the necessary experience and expertise to assist the Board in decision-making and provide 
greater balance to the Board as they do not participate in the day-to-day running of the Group. The Non-Executive Directors may 
challenge and help develop proposals on strategy, review the performance of and to extend guidance to the Management. Non-
Executive Directors have been actively participating in discussions and decision-making at the Board and the Board Committees 
meetings, and had open discussions with the Management. Where necessary, the Non-Executive Directors will meet and discuss 
on the Group’s affairs without the presence of the Management. 
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BOARD MATTERS (Principles 1, 2 and 3) (continued)

The Board currently comprises seven (7) Directors, three (3) of whom are Independent Directors. The Board noted that the 
requirement for independent directors to make up at least half of the Board where the Chairman is not an independent director 
(Guideline 2.2 of the Code) must be fulfilled at the annual general meetings following the end of financial years commencing on 
or after 1 May 2016. Necessary arrangements will be made in due course for the satisfaction of the aforesaid guideline. 

The Independent Directors have confirmed that they do not have any relationship with the Company, its related corporations, its 
10% shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Directors’ 
independent business judgment with a view to the best interests of the Company. None of the Independent Directors has served 
on the Board beyond nine (9) years from the date of his appointment. 

The independence of each Director will be reviewed annually by the NC. The NC adopts the Code’s definition of what constitutes 
an Independent Director in its review. The NC has reviewed and determined that Mr Tan Keh Yan, Peter, Mr Lee Sai Sing and Ms 
Goh Bee Leong are independent.

BOARD MEMBERSHIP & PERFORMANCE (Principles 4 and 5)

Principle 4: There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of directors 
to the Board.

Principle 5: There should be a formal annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its 
board committees, and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

The NC comprises four (4) Directors, all of whom are Non-Executive Directors, and a majority of whom, including the NC 
Chairman, are independent. The members of the NC are as follows:

Goh Bee Leong1 Chairman Independent Director
Tan Keh Yan, Peter Member Lead Independent Director
Lee Sai Sing1 Member Independent Director
Koh Lee Hwee Member Non-Independent Director

1 Ms Goh Bee Leong was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company on 19 October 2015 and was subsequently appointed as 
the Chairman of the NC on 17 February 2016, in place of Mr Lee Sai Sing, who will remain as a member of the NC. 



CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

MAXI-CASH FINANCIAL SERVICES CORPORATION LTD 21

BOARD MEMBERSHIP & PERFORMANCE (Principles 4 and 5) (continued)

The NC will meet at least once a year. The NC carries out its duties in accordance with a set of terms of reference which 
includes, mainly, the following:

l	 reviewing and recommending to the Board on all Board appointments, including the nomination or re-nomination of 
Directors having regard to the Directors’ contribution and performance;

l		 developing a process for the selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors to the Board;

l		 reviewing orientation programs for new Directors and training and professional development programs for the continuing 
training of the Directors;

l		 determining on an annual basis whether or not a Director is independent bearing in mind the salient factors set out in the 
Code;

l		 deciding whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a director, having regard 
to the competing time commitments that are faced by the Director when serving on multiple boards;

l		 assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution of each individual Director to the effectiveness 
of the Board;

l		 reviewing the size and composition of the Board with the objective of achieving a balanced Board in terms of the mix of 
experience and expertise and make recommendations to the Board with regard to any changes; and

l		 reviewing and approving any new employment of related persons and the proposed terms of their employment.

In its selection of new Directors, the NC reviews the composition of the Board and identifies the skill sets which will enhance the 
Board’s overall effectiveness. Potential candidates are identified from various sources. The Board conducts an initial assessment 
to review the candidate’s qualifications, attributes and past experience followed by interviewing short-listed candidates. The 
proposed candidate’s independence, expertise, background and right skills will be considered before the Board makes its final 
decision on the appointment. For re-appointment of Directors to the Board, the Board will take into consideration, amongst 
others, the Director’s integrity, competencies, independence, commitment, contribution and performance (such as attendance, 
participation, preparedness and candour). 

The NC determines the criteria on which Board performance is to be evaluated and, subject to the approval of the Board, 
proposes objective performance criteria which address how the Board has enhanced long-term shareholders’ value. As 
the Company was listed on the Catalist of the SGX-ST on 22 June 2012, the consideration of the Company’s share price 
performance over a five (5) year period is not applicable. However, the Board will review this performance criterion when relevant.
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BOARD MEMBERSHIP & PERFORMANCE (Principles 4 and 5) (continued)

The Board has implemented a formal annual process to be carried out by the NC to assess the effectiveness of the Board as 
a whole and its Board Committees. For FY2015, the Directors participated in the evaluation by providing feedback to the NC in 
the form of completing a Board Performance Evaluation checklist which covers several parameters such as Board composition, 
conduct of meetings, Board process, Board accountability, risk management and internal control, measuring and monitoring 
performance as well as communication with shareholders. To ensure confidentiality, the evaluation checklists completed by the 
Directors were submitted to the Company Secretary for collation and the consolidated responses were presented to the NC 
for review and discussion. The NC has reported to the Board on its review of the Board’s performance for the year. The NC has 
reviewed the overall performance of the Board in terms of its role and responsibilities and the conduct of its affairs as a whole for 
the financial year and is of the view that the performance of the Board as a whole has been satisfactory. 

As the ability to commit time and attention to the Group’s affairs is essential for the individual Director’s contribution and 
performance, the Board has considered the number of listed directorship each of its Directors can hold after taking into 
considerations factors such as the expected and/or competing time commitments of the Directors, the size and composition of 
the Board as well as the nature and scope of the Group’s operations and size. As a guide, Directors should not have more than 
six (6) listed company board representations. 

The NC has reviewed and is satisfied that in FY2015, where Directors had other listed company board representations, the 
Directors have been able to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company to adequately carry out their duties 
as Directors of the Company. 

The NC will continue to review formal assessment processes for evaluating Board performance, as well as the contribution of 
individual Directors to the effectiveness of the Board. Each member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in 
respect of the assessment of his performance or re-nomination as Director.

The Company’s Constitution provides that at least one-third of its Directors shall retire from office and are subject to re-election 
at every Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). The NC has reviewed and is satisfied that the Directors who are retiring in accordance 
with the Company’s Constitution at the forthcoming AGM are properly qualified for re-appointment by virtue of their skills, 
experience and contributions.

The NC recommended to the Board that Mr Koh Wee Seng and Mr Tan Keh Yan, Peter who are retiring pursuant to Article 93 
of the Company’s Constitution, be nominated for re-election as Directors at the Company’s forthcoming AGM. The NC has 
also recommended to the Board that Ms Goh Bee Leong, who is retiring pursuant Article 92 of the Company’s Constitution, 
be nominated for re-election as a Director at the Company’s forthcoming AGM. Please refer to pages 17 and 18 of this Annual 
Report for more information on Mr Koh Wee Seng, Mr Tan Keh Yan, Peter and Ms Goh Bee Leong. The re-election of Mr Koh Wee 
Seng, Mr Tan Keh Yan, Peter and Ms Goh Bee Leong shall be subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.

The NC also determines, on an annual basis, the independence of Directors. For FY2015, the NC has assessed and affirmed the 
status of each Director as follows:

Koh Wee Seng Non-Independent
Ng Leok Cheng Non-Independent 
Koh Lee Hwee Non-Independent 
Ko Lee Meng Non-Independent 
Tan Keh Yan, Peter Independent
Lee Sai Sing Independent
Goh Bee Leong Independent



CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

MAXI-CASH FINANCIAL SERVICES CORPORATION LTD 23

The key information of the Directors, including their appointment dates and directorships held in the past three (3) years, are set 
out on pages 17 and 18 of this Annual Report. 

ACCESS TO INFORMATION (Principle 6)

Principle 6:    In order to fulfill their responsibilities, directors should be provided with complete, adequate and 
timely information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis so as to enable them to make 
informed decisions to discharge their duties and responsibilities.

To enable the Board to fulfill its responsibilities, the Management provides the Board with management reports on a regular 
and timely basis, with relevant and adequate information prior to the Board meetings. Prior to each Board meeting, the Board 
is provided with board papers with the relevant background or explanatory information relating to the business of the meeting, 
financial results and information on major operational, financial and corporate issues. During each Board meeting, progress 
reports of the Group’s business operations are also presented to the Board by the Management. The Board also has separate 
and independent access to the Company Secretary and the Company’s Senior Management.

The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings and ensures that Board procedures are followed. The Company Secretary 
also ensures that the requirements under the Companies Act (Chapter 50 of Singapore) (“Companies Act”) and all others 
regulations of the SGX-ST are complied with. 

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for consideration for the Board as a whole.

In the furtherance of its duties, the Board may obtain professional advice and assistance from the Company Secretary or 
independent professionals if necessary, and the cost of such advice and assistance will be borne by the Company.

REMUNERATION MATTERS (Principles 7, 8 and 9)

Principle 7:    There  should  be  a  formal  and  transparent  procedure  for  developing  policy  on  executive 
remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be 
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Principle 8:   The level and structure of remuneration should be aligned with the long–term interest and risk policies 
of the company, and should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate (a) the directors to provide 
good stewardship of the company, and (b) key management personnel to successfully manage the 
company. However, companies should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose. 

Principle 9:  Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policies, level and mix of 
remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s Annual Report. It should 
provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link 
between remuneration paid to directors and key management personnel, and performance.
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REMUNERATION MATTERS (Principles 7, 8 and 9) (continued)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The RC comprises four (4) Directors, all of whom are Non-Executive Directors, and a majority of whom, including the RC 
Chairman, are independent. The members of the RC are as follows:

Lee Sai Sing Chairman Independent Director
Tan Keh Yan, Peter Member Lead Independent Director
Goh Bee Leong1 Member Independent Director
Ko Lee Meng Member Non-Executive Director

1 Ms Goh Bee Leong was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company on 19 October 2015 and was subsequently appointed as a 
member of the RC on 17 February 2016. 

The RC will meet at least once a year. The RC carries out its duties in accordance with a set of terms of reference which 
includes, mainly, the following:

l	 reviewing and recommending to the Board a framework of remuneration policies to determine the specific remuneration 
packages and terms of employment for each of the Directors and key management executives;

l		 reviewing and administering the award of shares to Directors and employees under the employee performance share 
plan adopted by the Company; and

l		 reviewing and determining the contents of any service contracts for any Directors or key management executives.

The RC ensures that a formal and transparent procedure is in place for fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors 
and key management executives. All aspects of remuneration, including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, 
bonuses and other benefits-in-kind are reviewed by the RC. The recommendations of the RC are submitted for endorsement by 
the Board. Each member of the RC abstains from voting on any resolutions in respect of his remuneration package.

The remuneration of related employees will be reviewed annually by the RC to ensure that their remuneration packages are in 
line with the staff remuneration guidelines and commensurate with their respective job scopes and level of responsibilities. Any 
bonuses, pay increments and/or promotions for these related employees will also be subject to the review and approval of the 
RC. In the event that a member of the RC is related to the employee under review, he will abstain from participating in the review.

No remuneration consultants were engaged by the Company in FY2015. The RC will engage professional advice in relation to 
remuneration matters as and when the need arises. The RC will ensure that existing relationships between the Company and 
its appointed remuneration consultants, if any, will not affect the independence and objectivity of the remuneration consultants. 
Where remuneration consultants are appointed, the Company will disclose the names and firms of the remuneration consultants 
in the annual remuneration report, and include a statement on whether the remuneration consultants have any such relationships 
with the Company.
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REMUNERATION MATTERS (Principles 7, 8 and 9) (continued)

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the remuneration offered is competitive and sufficient to attract, retain and 
motivate Directors and key management executives of the required experience and expertise. 

Executive Directors do not receive Directors’ fees but are remunerated as members of the Management. The remuneration 
package of the Executive Directors and the key management executives comprises a basic salary component and a variable 
component which is the annual bonus, based on the performance of the Group as a whole and their individual performance. The 
performance-related component of the remuneration package is designed to align the interests of the Executive Directors with 
those of the shareholders and link rewards to the Group’s financial performance. Service agreements for Executive Directors are 
for a fixed appointment period and do not contain onerous removal clauses. 

The Non-Executive Directors do not have service agreements with the Company. They are paid fixed Directors’ fees appropriate 
to their level of contribution, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent, and their responsibilities on the Board 
and Board Committees. The Independent Directors have not been over-compensated to the extent that their independence is 
compromised.

In addition, the Company has implemented an employee performance share plan as part of a compensation plan to motivate 
Directors and employees of the Group of dedication, loyalty and higher standards of performance. The Maxi-Cash Performance 
Share Plan (the “Share Plan”) was approved and adopted by the shareholders of the Company at an extraordinary general 
meeting held on 11 April 2012.

The Share Plan is administered by the RC. The names of the members of the RC are as stated above.

A participant’s award under the Share Plan will be determined at the sole discretion of the RC. In considering the grant of an 
award to a participant, the RC may take into account, amongst others, the participant’s capability, creativity, entrepreneurship, 
innovativeness, scope of responsibility and skill set.

Awards granted under the Share Plan will be performance based, with performance targets set over a designated performance 
period. Performance targets set are based on medium-term corporate objectives covering market competitiveness, quality of 
returns, business growth and productivity growth. Awards are granted when and after pre-determined performance or service 
conditions are accomplished.

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued or transferred pursuant to the awards granted under the Share Plan, 
when added to (i) the number of shares issued and issuable and/or transferred or transferable in respect of all awards granted 
under the Share Plan; and (ii) all shares issued and issuable and/or transferred or transferable in respect of all options granted 
or awards granted under any other share incentive schemes or share plans adopted by the Company for the time being in force, 
shall not exceed 15.0% of the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the Company on the day preceding the relevant 
date of the award.

During FY2015, no awards have been granted under the Share Plan. For further details of the Share Plan, please refer to the 
Company’s offer document dated 12 June 2012.
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REMUNERATION MATTERS (Principles 7, 8 and 9) (continued)

A breakdown showing the level and mix of the remuneration of each individual Director and key management executive for 
FY2015 is set out below: 

Remuneration bands
Salary (1)

 (%)
Benefits

(%)

Variable or 
performance 

bonus 
(%)

Directors’ 
Fees(2) 

(%)
Total

(%)

Directors (3)

S$250,000 to below S$500,000
Ng Leok Cheng 72.88 – 27.12 – 100.00
Below S$250,000
Koh Lee Hwee 88.57 – 11.43 – 100.00
Tan Keh Yan, Peter – – – 100.00 100.00
Lee Sai Sing – – – 100.00 100.00
Goh Bee Leong – – – 100.00 100.00

Key Management Executives (4)

Below S$250,000
Chua Wee Kiong 84.00 – 16.00 – 100.00
Eng Seok Cheng, Magdalene 84.13 – 15.87 – 100.00
Phua Hue Tian 82.56 – 17.44 – 100.00
Yeo Yen Phing 83.93 – 16.07 – 100.00

Notes:

(1) Salary is inclusive of salary, allowances and Central Provident Fund contributions.

(2) Directors’ fees are subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming AGM.

(3) There will be no Directors’ fees being paid to Mr Koh Wee Seng, Ms Koh Lee Hwee and Ms Ko Lee Meng for FY2015.

(4) The Group has only four (4) key management executives who are not Directors.

Save for Mr Koh Wee Seng (Non-Executive Chairman), Ms Koh Lee Hwee (Non-Executive Director) and Ms Ko Lee Meng (Non-
Executive Director) who are siblings, there was no employee of the Group who is an immediate family member of a Director or 
the Chief Executive Officer and was paid more than S$50,000 during FY2015.

The Board has reviewed the disclosure of the remuneration of the Directors and the key management executives and has 
decided not to fully disclose them as the Board believes that the disclosure may be prejudicial to its businesses given the 
competitive business environment and the disadvantages that it may bring.
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REMUNERATION MATTERS (Principles 7, 8 and 9) (continued)

There are no termination, retirement and post-employment benefits that are granted to the Directors. The RC is of the view that it 
is currently not necessary to use contractual provisions to allow the Company to reclaim incentive components of renumeration 
from the Executive Director and key management personnel in exceptional circumtances of misstatement of financial statements, 
or of misconduct resulting in financial loss to the Company and the Group.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (Principle 11)

Principle 11: The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that the Management 
maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ 
interests and the company’s assets, and should determine the nature and extent of the significant 
risks which the Board is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives.

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that the Management maintains a sound system of risk 
management and internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ interests and the Group’s assets, and determines the nature 
and extent of the significant risks which the Board is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives. 

The Company’s internal control systems serve as the key in identifying and managing risks that are significant to the achievement 
of its business objectives. The process of risk management has been integrated into the Group’s business planning and 
monitoring process. The Company regularly reviews the Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant 
business risks. Appropriate measures are taken to assess, control and mitigate these risks.

The AC reviews with the external auditors, as part of their statutory audit, the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal controls relevant to the preparation of financial statements.

The internal audit function of the Group performs risk assessment and conducts review on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
material internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management systems. Any material 
non-compliance or failures in internal controls and recommendations for improvements are reported to the AC. The AC also 
reviews and endorses the internal audit plan and internal audit reports of the Group.

The internal controls in place maintained by the Company’s management throughout the year and up to the date of this report, 
provides reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material financial misstatements or loss, and include the safeguarding 
of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability of financial information, compliance with appropriate 
legislation, regulation and best practice, and the identification and containment of business risk. The Board notes that no system 
of internal control could provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement in decision-
making, human error, losses, fraud or other irregularities. The adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and 
internal control system and procedures will be reviewed by the AC annually.

Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the internal and external auditors 
and reviews performed by Management, the Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the Group’s internal 
controls addressing the financial, operational and compliance risks, are adequate and effective as at 31 December 2015.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (Principle 11) (continued)

The Board has also received the assurance of the CEO and the Assistant Finance Director that:

(a) the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
Company’s operations and finances; and

(b) they have evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and assessed the internal auditors’ reports on 
the Group’s operations and external auditors’ report on the financial statements and management letter and noted that 
there have been no significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the 
Company’s ability to record, process, summarise or report financial information.

AUDIT COMMITTEE (Principle 12)

Principle 12:   The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly set out 
its authority and duties.

The AC comprises four (4) Directors, all of whom are Non-Executive Directors, and a majority of whom, including the AC 
Chairman, are independent and have accounting related or financial management experience. The members of the AC are as 
follows:

Tan Keh Yan, Peter Chairman Lead Independent Director
Lee Sai Seng Member Independent Director
Goh Bee Leong1 Member Independent Director
Ko Lee Meng Member Non-Independent Director

1 Ms Goh Bee Leong was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company on 19 October 2015 and she was subsequently appointed 
as a member of the AC on 17 February 2016.

The AC meets on a quarterly basis during the year. The AC carries out its duties in accordance with a set of terms of reference 
which includes, mainly, the following:

l reviewing with the external auditors, the audit plan and their evaluation of the system of internal accounting controls and 
monitor Management’s response and actions to correct noted deficiencies;

l reviewing with the internal auditors of the Company, the scope and results of the internal audit and monitor 
Management’s response to their findings to ensure that appropriate follow-up measures are taken;

l reviewing the internal control and procedures and ensure coordination between the external auditors and Management;

l reviewing the effectiveness and adequacy of the Company’s administrative, operating internal accounting and financial 
control procedures;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Principle 12) (continued)

l evaluating the effectiveness of both the internal and external audit efforts through regular meetings;

l determining that no unwarranted management restrictions are being placed upon either the internal or external auditors;

l reviewing the quarterly financial information and full year financial statements before submission to the Board particularly 
in relation to changes in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting from the 
audit, the going concern statement, compliance with accounting standards, compliance with the SGX-ST and statutory/
regulatory requirements;

l reviewing and reporting to the Board at least annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
controls, including financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls;

l reviewing the interested person transactions;

l evaluating the independence of the external auditors annually and nominate them for re-appointment; and

l reviewing the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the 
external auditors.

The AC has authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference and have been given full access to Management 
and reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its function properly. The AC has full discretion to invite any Director or key 
management executive to attend its meetings. 

The AC is guided by its terms of reference which stipulate its principal functions. In performing its functions, the AC meets 
regularly with the Management and the external auditors to review auditing and risk management matters and discuss 
accounting implications of any major transactions including significant financial reporting issues. It also reviews the internal 
audit function of the Group to ensure that an effective system of control is maintained in the Group. The AC has full access 
to the external auditors and the internal auditors and has met with them at least once during FY2015 without the presence 
of the Management. On a quarterly basis, the AC also reviews the interested person transactions and the financial results 
announcements before their submission to the Board for approval. The AC is kept abreast by the Management and the external 
auditors of changes to accounting standards, Catalist Rules and other regulations which could have an impact on the Group’s 
business and financial statements.

The AC will review the independence of the external auditors annually. 

The AC has undertaken a review of all the non-audit services provided by the external auditors, namely tax services, and is 
satisfied that the provision of such services did not affect the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and the 
non-audit services rendered during FY2015 were not substantial. Total audit fees and non-audit fees paid to external auditors in 
FY2015 amounted to approximately S$231,000 and S$49,000 respectively. As such, the AC has recommended to the Board that 
Ernst & Young LLP be nominated for re-appointment as the Company’s external auditors at the forthcoming AGM.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Principle 12) (continued)

The Company has complied with Rules 712 and 715 of the Catalist Rules in appointing the audit firms for the Group. No former 
partner or director of the Company’s existing auditing firm is a member of the AC.

The Company has put in place a whistle blowing policy, endorsed by the AC where employees of the Company may in 
confidence, raise concerns about wrongdoing or malpractice within the Company and its subsidiaries and ensure arrangements 
are in place for the independent investigations of such matters and for appropriate follow up actions. No such whistle-blowing 
letter was received in FY2015.

INTERNAL AUDIT (Principle 13)

Principle 13:  The Company should establish an effective internal audit function that is adequately resourced and 
independent of the activities it audits.

The internal audit function of the Group is conducted by the internal audit team of the Company. The internal audit team performs 
risk assessment and conducts the review of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, including financial, operational 
and compliance controls and risk management systems. The internal auditors have unrestricted access to the AC on internal 
audit matters. The AC reviews and endorses the internal audit plan and internal audit reports of the Group. Any material non-
compliance or failures in the internal audit function and recommendations for improvements are reported to the AC.

The internal audit function is independent of the activities it audits and carries out its activities in compliance with the Standards 
for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of Internal Auditors.

The Board and the AC are of the opinion that the internal audit function is sufficiently resourced and internal audits are performed 
by competent professional staff. The AC will review annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function. The 
AC will also approve the appointment, removal, evaluation and compensation of the head of the internal audit function.

ACCOUNTING AND COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS (Principles 10, 14 and 15)

Principle 10: The  Board  should present  a  balanced  and  understandable  assessment  of  the  company’s 
performance, position and prospects.

Principle 14: Companies should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably, and should recognise, protect and 
facilitate the exercise of shareholders’ rights, and continually review and update such governance 
arrangements. 

Principle 15: Companies should actively engage their shareholders and put in place an investor relations policy to 
promote regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.
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ACCOUNTING AND COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS (Principles 10, 14 and 15) (continued)

The Board is mindful of the obligation to provide timely and fair disclosure of material information. The Board is accountable 
to the shareholders while the Management is accountable to the Board. The Management currently provides the Board with 
management accounts of the Group’s position, performance and prospects on a quarterly basis and as and when deemed 
necessary, and the Board provides shareholders with an assessment of the Company’s performance, financial position and 
prospects on a quarterly basis via quarterly announcements of results and other ad-hoc announcements as required by the SGX-
ST.

Results and other material information are released through SGXNET on a timely basis for the dissemination to shareholders and 
public in accordance with the requirements of the SGX-ST.

The Board welcomes the views of shareholders on matters affecting the Company, whether at the general meetings of 
shareholders or on an ad hoc basis. Shareholders of the Company are informed of the general meetings through notices 
published in the newspapers and reports or circulars sent to all shareholders. At the general meetings, shareholders will be given 
the opportunity to express their views and ask Directors or Management questions regarding the Company. The external auditors 
will also be present to address the shareholders’ queries about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the 
auditor’s report.

The Company does not have a dedicated investor relations team. The CEO and Assistant Finance Director are responsible 
for the Company’s communication with shareholders. The public can also provide feedback to the Company Secretary via 
electronic mail address or registered address. Apart from SGXNET announcements and its annual reports, where appropriate, 
the Company may release press releases or conduct media/analyst briefings to keep shareholders informed of its corporate 
developments.

Shareholders who are not relevant intermediaries can vote in person or appoint not more than two (2) proxies (or in the case 
of shareholders who are relevant intermediaries, more than two (2) proxies) to attend and vote on their behalf at the general 
meetings. There is no provision in the Company’s Constitution that limits the number of proxies for nominee companies.

The Company currently does not have a fixed dividend policy. The form, frequency and amount of declaration and payment 
of future dividends on our shares that the Directors may recommend or declare in respect of any particular financial year or 
period will take into consideration the Group’s retained earnings and expected future earnings, operations, cash flow, capital 
requirements and general financing condition, as well as general business conditions and other factors which the Directors 
may deem appropriate. The Company may declare dividends by way of an ordinary resolution of the shareholders at a general 
meeting, but may not pay dividends in excess of the amount recommended by the Directors. The declaration and payment of 
dividends will be determined at the sole discretion of the Directors, subject to the approval of the shareholders. The Directors 
may also declare an interim dividend without the approval of the shareholders. Future dividends will be paid by the Company as 
and when approved by the shareholders (if necessary) and the Directors. The Company has proposed a final one-tier dividend of 
0.5 cents per ordinary share in respect of FY2015, subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM. 
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CONDUCT OF SHAREHOLDER MEETINGS (Principle 16)

Principle 16: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at general meetings of shareholders, 
and allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the 
company.

All shareholders receive reports or circulars of the Company which include notice of general meeting by post within the 
mandatory period. Notice of general meeting is released through SGXNET and published in the Business Times within the same 
period. The results of the general meetings are also released on SGXNET on the same day. 

All registered shareholders are encouraged to participate during the general meetings. Matters which require shareholders’ 
approval were presented and proposed as a separate resolution. The Company practises having separate resolutions 
at general meetings for each distinct issue.  Each item of special business in the notice of general meeting is accompanied 
by an explanatory note, where appropriate. Proxy form is also sent with the notice of general meeting to all shareholders. If 
shareholders are unable to attend the general meetings, a shareholder who is not a relevant intermediary may appoint not more 
than two proxies (or in the case of a shareholder who is a relevant intermediary, more than two proxies) to attend and vote on 
their behalf at the general meetings. Voting in absentia and by electronic mail may only be possible following careful study to 
ensure that integrity of the information and authentication of the identity of shareholders through the web is not compromised. 

All Directors, Management, Company Secretary, external auditors and legal advisors (if necessary) attend the general meetings. 
The procedures of the general meetings provide shareholders the opportunity to ask questions relating to each resolution tabled 
for approval. Shareholders are encouraged to provide their views on matters relating to the Company.

The Company Secretary prepares minutes of the general meetings which include substantial and relevant comments or queries 
from shareholders relating to the agendas of the meetings, and responses from the Board and Management. These minutes are 
subsequently approved by the Board and make available to shareholders during office hours at the registered office. 

For greater transparency, the Company will put all resolutions to vote by poll at general meetings and an announcement of the 
detailed results the number of votes cast for and against each resolution and the respective percentages will be made on the 
same day.
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OTHER CORPORATE GOVERANCE MATTERS

DEALING IN SECURITIES

The Company has adopted an internal securities code of compliance to provide to the Directors and all employees of the 
Group with regard to dealing in the Company’s securities pursuant to Rule 1204(19) of the Catalist Rules. During FY2015, the 
Company issues quarterly circulars to its Directors, officers and employees prohibiting dealing in its shares during the period 
commencing two (2) weeks before the announcement of the Company’s quarterly financial results and one (1) month before 
the announcement of the Company’s full-year financial results, and ending on the date of announcement of the relevant results. 
Directors and employees are also advised against dealing in the Company’s securities when they are in possession of any 
unpublished material price-sensitive information of the Group at all times. In addition, the Company discourages the Directors 
and employees from dealing in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations. The Group confirms that it has adhered to 
its internal securities code of compliance for FY2015.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of any transactions with interested persons and has set out the 
procedures for review and approval of the Company’s interested person transactions. All interested person transactions are 
reported in a timely manner to the AC and are subject to the review of the AC when a potential conflict of interest arises. The 
Director concerned does not participate in discussions and refrains from exercising any influence over other members of the 
Board.

The Group does not have a general mandate from shareholders for interested person transactions pursuant to Rule 920(1)(a)(i) 
of the Catalist Rules.

The aggregate value of interested person transactions above $100,000 entered into during FY2015 is as follows:

Name of interested person

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions during FY2015 

(excluding transactions less than 
S$100,000 and transactions conducted 
under shareholders’ mandate pursuant 

to Rule 920)
($)

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions conducted under 

shareholders’ mandate pursuant to 
Rule 920 (excluding transactions less 

than S$100,000)
($)

Lease of premises
World Financial Property Pte Ltd
8G Investment Pte Ltd

428,000
462,000

–
–

Corporate charges
Aspial Corporation Limited 465,000 –
Loan Interest
Aspial Corporation Limited
Aspial Treasury Pte Ltd 

503,000
613,000

–
–
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed above in the section entitled “Interested Person Transactions”, there were no material contracts of the 
Company or its subsidiaries involving the interest of any Director or controlling shareholder, either still subsisting at the end of 
FY2015 or if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

NON-SPONSOR FEES

With reference to Rule 1204(21) of the Catalist Rules, there were no non-sponsor fees paid to the Company’s Sponsor, 
Canaccord Genuity Singapore Pte. Ltd., for the financial year ended 31 December 2015.
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The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements 
of Maxi-Cash Financial Services Corporation Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and the 
statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 
2015.

Opinion of the directors

In the opinion of the directors, 

(i) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in 
equity of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the 
Company as at 31 December 2015 and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and 
changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they fall due.

Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Koh Wee Seng
Ng Leok Cheng
Koh Lee Hwee 
Ko Lee Meng
Tan Keh Yan, Peter 
Lee Sai Sing 
Goh Bee Leong (appointed on 19 October 2015)

In accordance with Article 92 of the Company’s Constitution, Goh Bee Leong retires and, being eligible, offers herself for  
re-election.

In accordance with Article 93 of the Company’s Constitution, Koh Wee Seng and Tan Keh Yan, Peter retire and, being eligible, 
offer themselves for re-election.

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares or debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects are, 
or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or 
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.
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(continued)

Directors’ interests in shares or debentures

The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of directors’ shareholdings 
required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, an interest in the shares of the Company 
and related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) as stated below:

Held by directors
Other shareholdings in which directors are 

deemed to have an interest
1 January

2015
31 December 

2015
21 January 

2016
1 January

2015
31 December 

2015
21 January 

2016

The Company
Maxi-Cash Financial Services Corporation Ltd.
(Ordinary shares)
Koh Wee Seng 10,675,942 24,767,381 24,767,381 456,192,000 425,957,247 425,957,247
Koh Lee Hwee – 1,235,555 1,235,555 456,192,000 426,470,626 426,470,626
Ko Lee Meng 644,160 1,957,292 1,957,292 457,392,000 427,000,808 427,000,808
Lee Sai Sing 380,160 380,160 380,160 – – –

Immediate holding company 
Aspial Corporation Limited
(Ordinary shares)
Koh Wee Seng 336,863,500 347,479,901 348,219,901 1,097,194,355 1,122,273,082 1,122,273,082
Koh Lee Hwee 30,888,888 30,888,888 30,888,888 1,110,028,834 1,135,400,921 1,135,400,921
Ko Lee Meng 31,928,321 33,443,824 33,443,824 1,093,283,382 1,118,264,239 1,118,264,239

Ultimate holding company
MLHS Holdings Pte Ltd
(Ordinary shares)
Koh Wee Seng 1,410,000 1,410,000 1,410,000 – – –
Koh Lee Hwee 607,500 607,500 607,500 – – –
Ko Lee Meng 772,500 772,500 772,500 – – –

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, Koh Wee Seng, Koh Lee Hwee and Ko Lee Meng are 
deemed to have an interest in the shares of the Company and its subsidiaries to the extent held by Aspial Corporation Limited 
and MLHS Holdings Pte Ltd.

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares, share 
options, warrants or debentures of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year, or date of 
appointment if later, or at the end of the financial year.
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Options

No options were issued by the Company during the financial year. As at 31 December 2015, there are no options on the 
unissued shares of the Company or any other body corporate which were outstanding.

Audit committee

The Audit Committee performed the functions specified in the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50. The functions performed 
are detailed in the Corporate Governance Report.

Auditor

Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditor.

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Koh Wee Seng
Director

Ng Leok Cheng
Director

Singapore
21 March 2016
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Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Maxi-Cash Financial Services Corporation Ltd. (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) set out on pages 41 to 93, which comprise the statements of financial position of 
the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2015, the statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company and 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management’s responsibility for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for 
devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets 
are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are 
recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of 
changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 
December 2015 and of the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of 
the Company for the year ended on that date.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary 
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore
21 March 2016
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The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Note 2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Revenue 4 121,053 109,605
Material costs (84,587) (77,473)
Employee benefits 5 (12,918) (11,882)
Depreciation and amortisation (1,640) (1,855)
Finance costs 6 (4,027) (2,845)
Other operating expenses (14,237) (14,780)

Operating profit 3,644 770
Rental income 165 601
Other income 7 526 433

Profit before tax 8 4,335 1,804
Income tax (expense)/credit 9(a) (425) 52

Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive income for the year 3,910 1,856

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 3,843 1,812
Non-controlling interests 67 44

3,910 1,856
 
Earnings per share (cents)
Basic and diluted 10 0.68 0.32
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Group Company
Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 3,299 4,287 63 88
Other receivables 14 2,046 909 554 909
Investment in subsidiaries 12 – – 45,000 45,000
Prepaid rent 15 42 95 – –
Deferred tax assets 9(c) 948 1,150 28 30

6,335 6,441 45,645 46,027
Current assets
Inventories 13 29,027 30,618 – –
Trade and other receivables 14 215,520 199,957 401 1,291
Prepaid rent 15 53 212 – 47
Prepayments 627 728 27 26
Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 16 – – 26,195 28,804
Cash and bank balances 17 9,472 9,264 903 1,444

254,699 240,779 27,526 31,612
Total assets 261,034 247,220 73,171 77,639

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 3,217 3,539 914 923
Due to immediate holding company (non-trade) 16 8,178 114,196 8,178 12,685
Due to a related company (non-trade) 16 51,660 – – –
Provision for taxation 790 1,033 29 16
Interest-bearing loans 19 129,610 63,710 – –

193,455 182,478 9,121 13,624
Net current assets 61,244 58,301 18,405 17,988
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(continued)

Group Company
Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current liabilities
Other payables 18 23 – 23 –
Deferred tax liabilities 9(c) 65 36 – –

88 36 23 –
Total liabilities 193,543 182,514 9,144 13,624
Net assets 67,491 64,706 64,027 64,015

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 20 64,035 64,035 64,035 64,035
Revenue reserves 2,747 29 (8) (20)

66,782 64,064 64,027 64,015
Non-controlling interests 709 642 – –
Total equity 67,491 64,706 64,027 64,015
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Note

Attributable to owners 
of the Company Non-

controlling 
interests

Total
equity

Share
capital

Revenue 
reserves Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

At 1 January 2014 64,035 (611) 63,424 598 64,022
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive
 income for the year – 1,812 1,812 44 1,856
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Dividends on ordinary shares 24 – (1,172) (1,172) – (1,172)
Total transactions with owners in their capacity 
 as owners – (1,172) (1,172) – (1,172)
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 64,035 29 64,064 642 64,706
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive
 income for the year – 3,843 3,843 67 3,910
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Dividends on ordinary shares 24 – (1,125) (1,125) – (1,125)
Total transactions with owners in their capacity 
 as owners – (1,125) (1,125) – (1,125)
At 31 December 2015 64,035 2,747 66,782 709 67,491
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(continued)

Note
Share
capital

Revenue 
reserves Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Company

At 1 January 2014 64,035 39 64,074
Profit for the year – 1,113 1,113
Total comprehensive income for the year – 1,113 1,113
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Dividends on ordinary shares 24 – (1,172) (1,172)
Total transactions with owners in their capacity as owners – (1,172) (1,172)
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 64,035 (20) 64,015
Profit for the year – 1,137 1,137
Total comprehensive income for the year – 1,137 1,137
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Dividends on ordinary shares 24 – (1,125) (1,125)
Total transactions with owners in their capacity as owners – (1,125) (1,125)
At 31 December 2015 64,035 (8) 64,027
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Note 2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Operating activities
Profit before tax 4,335 1,804
Adjustments for:

(Recovery of) / allowance for doubtful debts, net 8 (137) 91
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8 1,428 1,455
Write-down of inventories 8 4 4
Interest expense 6 4,027 2,845
Financial losses on pledged items not fully covered by insurance 7 77
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 8 264 79
Amortisation of prepaid rent 8 212 400

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 10,140 6,755
Changes in working capital

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 1,587 (8,549)
Increase in trade and other receivables (16,569) (11,317)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments 101 (347)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (299) 51

Total changes in working capital (15,180) (20,162)

Cash flows used in operations (5,040) (13,407)
Interest paid (4,027) (2,845)
Income taxes paid (438) (120)
Net cash flows used in operating activities (9,505) (16,372)

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 11 (704) (2,148)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment – 61
Increase in prepaid rent – (185)
Net cash flows used in investing activities (704) (2,272)
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Note 2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Financing activities
Repayment of short-term notes, net – – *
Proceeds from/(repayment of) short-term bank borrowings, net 65,900 (10,303)
Repayment of finance lease obligations – (10)
(Repayment of advances)/advances from immediate holding company
 (non-trade), net (106,018) 27,792
Advances from a related company (non-trade), net 51,660 –
Dividends paid on ordinary shares 24 (1,125) (1,172)
Net cash flows from financing activities 10,417 16,307
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 208 (2,337)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 9,264 11,601
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 17 9,472 9,264

* Short-term notes of S$20 million issued on 5 February 2014 and fully repaid on 5 May 2014.
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1. Corporate information

 Maxi-Cash Financial Services Corporation Ltd. (the “Company”) is a limited liability Company incorporated and 
domiciled in Singapore and is listed on the Catalist Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited  
(“SGX-ST”).

 The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding companies are Aspial Corporation Limited and MLHS Holdings Pte Ltd 
respectively. The two companies are both incorporated in Singapore.

 The Company’s registered office is located at 80 Raffles Place, #32-01 UOB Plaza 1, Singapore 048624 and its principal 
place of business is located at 55 Ubi Avenue 1, #07-11, Ubi 55, Singapore 408935.

 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in 
Note 12 to the financial statements.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

 The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in 
equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies 
below.

 The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (“SGD” or “$”) and all values in the tables are rounded to the 
nearest thousand (“$’000”), except when otherwise indicated.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies 

 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except that in the current 
financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards which are effective for annual financial 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015. The adoption of these standards did not have any effect on the financial 
performance or position of the Group and the Company.
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(continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective 

 The Group has not adopted the following standards applicable to the Group that have been issued but not yet effective:

Description

Effective for 
annual periods 

beginning on or 
after

Amendments to FRS 1 Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2016

Amendments to FRS 16 and FRS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation 

1 January 2016

Amendments to FRS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2016

Improvements to FRSs (November 2014)

(a) Amendments to FRS 19 Employee Benefits 1 January 2016

(b) Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 January 2016

Amendments to FRS 7 Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2017

Amendments to FRS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 1 January 2017

FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

FRS 109 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

 Except for FRS 109, the directors expect that the adoption of the other standards above will have no material impact on 
the financial statements in the period of initial application. The Group is currently assessing the impact of FRS 109.

 FRS 109 Financial Instruments

 FRS 109 introduces new requirements for classification and measurement of financial assets, impairment of financial 
assets, and hedge accounting. Financial assets are classified according to their contractual cash flow characteristics 
and the business model under which they are held. The impairment requirements in FRS 109 are based on an expected 
credit loss model and replace the FRS 39 incurred loss model. Adopting the expected credit losses requirements will 
require the Group to make changes to its current systems and processes.

 FRS 109 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early application permitted. 
Retrospective application is required, but comparative information is not compulsory. The Group plans to adopt the 
standard on the required effective date.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.4 Basis of consolidation 

 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the 
end of the financial year. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like 
transactions and events in similar circumstances. 

 All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions 
and dividends are eliminated in full. 

 Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and 
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 

 Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

 A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If 
the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

 – de-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date 
when control is lost;

 – de-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;

 – de-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

 – recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

 – recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

 – recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;

 – re-classifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or 
loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

2.5 Transactions with non-controlling interests

 Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners of the 
Company.

 Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are 
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which 
the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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(continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.6 Subsidiaries

 A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the investee.

 In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment 
losses. 

2.7 Foreign currency

 The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (“SGD”), which is also the Company’s functional currency. 
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency to be SGD and items included in the financial statements 
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 

 Transactions and balances

 Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in SGD by the Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on 
initial recognition at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the financial year. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the end of the 
financial year are recognised in profit or loss.

2.8 Property, plant and equipment

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and 
equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

 Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Renovations, electrical fittings, furniture and fittings – 3 – 5 years
Air-conditioners, office and security equipment – 3 – 5 years
Showroom tools and machineries – 5 years
Computers – 3 years
Motor vehicles – 3 – 7 years



NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

ANNUAL REPORT 201552

(continued)

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.8 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

 Renovation-in-progress is not depreciated until it is ready for its intended use.

 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

 The useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted prospectively, if 
appropriate. 

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset is included in profit or loss in the 
year the asset is derecognised.

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount. 

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs of disposal and 
its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating 
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

 Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

 A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of 
the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit 
or loss. 



NOTES TO
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

MAXI-CASH FINANCIAL SERVICES CORPORATION LTD 53

(continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.10 Financial instruments 

 (a) Financial assets

  Initial recognition and measurement

  Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

  When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs.

  Subsequent measurement

  Loans and receivables

  Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are 
classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process. 

  De-recognition

  A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. 
On de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of 
the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive 
income is recognised in profit or loss. 

 (b) Financial liabilities

  Initial recognition and measurement

  Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial 
recognition.

  All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs. 

  Subsequent measurement

  After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and 
through the amortisation process. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.10 Financial instruments (continued)

 (b) Financial liabilities (continued)

  De-recognition

  A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a 
de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

2.11 Impairment of financial assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. 

 Financial assets carried at amortised cost

 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists 
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial 
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics 
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an 
impairment loss is, or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, 
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a variable 
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss.

 When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of the impaired financial asset is reduced directly or if an 
amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance account are written off against the 
carrying value of the financial asset. 

 To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, the 
Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default 
or significant delay in payments. 
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(continued)

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.11 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

 If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to 
the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of 
reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand.

2.13 Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by applying the specific 
identification method.

 Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying value of 
inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.14 Provisions

 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that an outflow of economic resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 Provisions are reviewed at the end of each financial year and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no 
longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.15 Financial guarantee 

 A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt 
instrument. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.15 Financial guarantee (continued)

 Financial guarantees are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial guarantees are recognised as 
income in profit or loss over the period of the guarantee. If it is probable that the liability will be higher than the amount 
initially recognised less amortisation, the liability is recorded at the higher amount with the difference charged to profit or 
loss. 

2.16 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the 
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs 
are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are 
expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection 
with the borrowing of funds.

2.17 Employee benefits

 (a) Defined contribution plans

  The Group make contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a defined contribution 
pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the related service is performed.

 (b) Employee leave entitlement

  Employees’ entitlement to annual leave is recognised as a liability when they are accrued to the employees. The 
undiscounted liability for leave expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the financial 
year is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the end of the financial year. 

 (c) Employee share award plan

  The immediate holding company’s shares can be awarded to certain employees and directors of the Group. 
Share award expense is recognised as an expense in the same period in which the related service is performed. 
The fair value of the share award expense is determined based on the market value of the shares at the 
distribution dates.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.18 Leases

 (a) As lessee

  Finance leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the 
leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the amount capitalised. 
Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to profit 
or loss. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

  Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and the lease 
term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

  Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense 
over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 

 (b) As lessor 
 
  Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 

are classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income. 
The accounting policy for rental income is set out in Note 2.19(c).

2.19 Revenue 

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is made. Revenue is measured at the fair value 
of consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding 
discounts, rebates, taxes or duty. 

 (a) Sale of goods 

  Revenue from sale of pre-owned jewellery and watches is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and 
rewards of ownership of the goods to the customer, which generally coincides with delivery and acceptance of 
the goods sold, net of discounts, returns and applicable goods and services tax. Revenue is not recognised to 
the extent where there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs 
or the possible return of goods.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.19 Revenue (continued)

 (b) Interest income

  Interest income from loans to customers is recognised using the effective interest method.

 (c) Rental income from operating leases
 
  Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. The aggregate costs of incentives 

provided to lessees are recognised as a reduction of rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

2.20 Taxes

 (a) Current income tax

  Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authority. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the financial year, in Singapore where the Group 
operates and generates taxable income.

  Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised 
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management periodically 
evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are 
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

 (b) Deferred tax

  Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the financial year 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

  – Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit 
nor taxable profit or loss; and

  – In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.20 Taxes (continued)

 (b) Deferred tax (continued)

  Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised except:

  – Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

  – In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax 
assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in 
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilised. 

  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each financial year and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each financial year and 
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset 
to be recovered. 

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of each financial year. 

  Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax 
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity. 

 (c) Sales tax
 
  Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

  – Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense item as applicable; and

  – Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.21 Segment reporting

 For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products and services which 
are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the respective 
segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the management of the Company who regularly 
review the segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess the segment performance. 
Additional disclosures on each of these segments are shown in Note 23, including the factors used to identify the 
reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

2.22 Share capital and share issuance expenses

 Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital. 

3. Significant accounting judgments and estimates

 The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities at the end of each financial year. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods.

3.1 Judgments made in applying accounting policies

 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart 
from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements:

 Income taxes

 The Group has exposure to income taxes in Singapore. Significant judgment is involved in determining the Group-wide 
provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination 
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on 
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made. The carrying amount of the Group’s provision for taxation and deferred tax 
liabilities at the end of the financial year was $790,000 (2014: $1,033,000) and $65,000 (2014: $36,000) respectively.
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(continued)

3. Significant accounting judgments and estimates (continued)

3.1 Judgments made in applying accounting policies (continued)

 Income taxes (continued)

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unutilised tax credits and losses to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax 
credits/losses can be utilised. Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax 
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax 
planning strategies. The carrying amount of the Group’s deferred tax assets at the end of the financial year was $948,000 
(2014: $1,150,000).

3.2 Other estimates and judgments applied

 The Group, on its own or in reliance on third parties, also applied estimates, assumptions and judgments in the following 
areas. These estimates, assumptions and judgments are however not expected to have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements 
within the next financial year.

 (a) Impairment of loans and receivables

  The Group assesses at the end of each financial year whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers factors 
such as the historical non-redemption data and significant decline in values of collaterals. Where there is 
objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated based on historical 
loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The carrying amount of the Group’s loans and 
receivables at the end of the financial year is disclosed in Note 14. 

 (b) Impairment of inventories

  The Group periodically assesses the allowance for inventory obsolescence. When inventories are deemed 
obsolete or when the net realisable value falls below cost, the amount of obsolete inventories or fall in value is 
recognised as an impairment against the inventory balance. To determine whether there is objective evidence of 
impairment, the Group estimates future demand for the product. Any possible changes in these estimates could 
result in revision to the valuation of inventory. The carrying amount of the Group’s inventories at the end of the 
financial year is disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.
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4. Revenue

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Sale of pre-owned jewellery and watches 92,904 83,661
Interest income from providing collateral loan services 28,149 25,944

121,053 109,605

5. Employee benefits

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Employee benefits expense:
- Salaries and bonuses * 11,410 10,581
- Central Provident Fund contributions 1,508 1,301

12,918 11,882

 * Included in salaries and bonuses are shares awarded to the employees for their contribution and services amounting to $67,000 
(2014: $64,000) under the immediate holding company’s share award scheme.
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6. Finance costs

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Interest expense on:
- Short-term bank borrowings 2,911 1,498
- Advances from immediate holding company 503 1,263
- Advances from a related company 613 –
- Short-term notes – 83
- Hire purchase – 1

4,027 2,845

7. Other income

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Net foreign exchange gain 61 91
Government grants and other miscellaneous income 465 342

526 433
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8. Profit before tax

 The following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax:

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Audit fees paid to auditors of the Company 231 225
Non-audit fees paid to auditors of the Company 49 52
Allowance for doubtful debts – 137
Recovery of doubtful debts (137) (46)
Amortisation of prepaid rent 212 400
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,428 1,455
Operating leases 9,155 9,257
- Fixed rental expense on operating leases 9,119 9,234
- Contingent rental expense on operating leases 36 23
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 264 79
Write-down of inventories 4 4
Financial losses on pledged items (recovered)/not fully covered by insurance (49) 77
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9. Income tax (expense)/credit

 (a) Major components of income tax expense/(credit)

  The major components of income tax expense/(credit) for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are:

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Consolidated income statement:
Current income tax

Current income taxation 621 499
Under provision in respect of previous years 30 22

651 521
Deferred income tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences (230) (588)
Over recognition of deferred tax assets in respect of previous years 4 15

Income tax expense/(credit) recognised in profit or loss 425 (52)

 (b) Relationship between tax expense/(credit) and profit before tax

  The reconciliations between tax expense/(credit) and the product of profit before tax multiplied by the applicable 
corporate tax rate for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Profit before tax 4,335 1,804

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 17% (2014: 17%) 737 307
Adjustments:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 75 253
Income not subject to tax (24) (24)
Effect of partial tax exemption and tax relief (396) (581)
Benefits from previously unrecognised tax credits – (47)
Under provision in respect of previous years 34 37
Others (1) 3

Income tax expense/(credit) recognised in profit or loss 425 (52)
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9. Income tax (expense)/credit (continued)

 (c) Deferred income tax 

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 1,114 792 30 62
Tax credited/(charged) to profit or loss 226 573 9 (32)
Group tax relief transfer (457) (251) (11) –
Balance at 31 December 883 1,114 28 30

  Deferred income tax as at 31 December relates to the following:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred tax liabilities
Difference in depreciation 69 62 – –
Provisions (4) (4) – –
Unutilised tax losses and allowances – (22) – –

65 36 – –
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9.  Income tax (expense)/credit (continued)

 (c) Deferred income tax (continued)

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred tax assets
Difference in depreciation (158) (157) (2) –
Provisions (28) (27) (14) (15)
Unutilised tax losses and allowances (745) (949) (12) (15)
Others (17) (17) – –

(948) (1,150) (28) (30)

  The subsidiaries of the Group transferred tax losses of approximately $2,683,000 (2014: $1,478,000) to other 
subsidiaries within the Group under the group relief system, subject to compliance with the relevant rules and 
procedures and agreement of Inland Revenue Authorities of Singapore. 

  Tax consequences of proposed dividends

  There are no income tax consequences (2014: Nil) attached to the dividends to the shareholders proposed by 
the Company but not recognised as a liability in the financial statements (Note 24).
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10. Earnings per share

 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share computation. 

 Diluted earnings per share is similar to basic earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares 
existing during the respective financial years.

 The following table reflects the profit and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for 
the years ended 31 December:

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company used in the computation of 
 basic and diluted earnings per share 3,843 1,812

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic and diluted earnings 
 per share computation 562,636,624 562,636,624

Earnings per share (cents)
– basic and diluted 0.68 0.32
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11. Property, plant and equipment

Group

Renovations, 
electrical 
fittings, 

furniture and 
fittings

Air-
conditioners, 

office and 
security 

equipment

Showroom 
tools and 

machineries Computers
Motor 

vehicles
Renovation-
in-progress Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost 
At 1 January 2014 3,499 2,385 353 498 163 141 7,039
Additions 390 586 97 171 85 819 2,148
Disposals (180) (23) (5) (21) (97) – (326)
Transfer in/(out) 796 – – 14 – (810) –
At 31 December 2014 and 
 1 January 2015 4,505 2,948 445 662 151 150 8,861
Additions 262 159 44 44 – 195 704
Disposals (411) (207) (4) (13) – (18) (653)
Transfer in/(out) 268 – – – – (268) –
At 31 December 2015 4,624 2,900 485 693 151 59 8,912

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 January 2014 1,647 1,155 168 291 44 – 3,305
Depreciation charge for the year 753 465 79 136 22 – 1,455
Disposals (118) (15) (4) (17) (32) – (186)
At 31 December 2014 and 
 1 January 2015 2,282 1,605 243 410 34 – 4,574
Depreciation charge for the year 745 440 82 140 21 – 1,428
Disposals (247) (129) (3) (10) – – (389)
At 31 December 2015 2,780 1,916 322 540 55 – 5,613

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2014 2,223 1,343 202 252 117 150 4,287
At 31 December 2015 1,844 984 163 153 96 59 3,299
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11. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Company

Renovations, 
electrical 
fittings, 

furniture and 
fittings

Air-
conditioners, 

office and 
security 

equipment

Showroom 
tools and 

machineries Computers
Renovation-
in-progress Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost
At 1 January 2014 119 44 5 77 – 245
Additions 18 7 – 9 20 54
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 137 51 5 86 20 299
Additions 4 – – 8 – 12
Disposals – – – – (6) (6)
Transfer in/(out) 13 – – – (13) –
At 31 December 2015 154 51 5 94 1 305

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2014 84 33 1 63 – 181
Depreciation charge for the year 14 5 2 9 – 30
At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 98 38 3 72 – 211
Depreciation charge for the year 17 4 1 9 – 31
At 31 December 2015 115 42 4 81 – 242

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2014 39 13 2 14 20 88
At 31 December 2015 39 9 1 13 1 63

 A floating charge has been placed on property, plant and equipment of certain subsidiaries with a carrying amount 
aggregating $2,113,000 (2014: $2,188,000) as security for bank borrowings (Note 19).
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12 Investment in subsidiaries

Company
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost
Carrying amount of investment at 31 December 45,000 45,000

 The Company had the following subsidiaries as at 31 December:

Name of Company

Country of 
incorporation 
and place of 

business Principal activities
Proportion (%) of 

ownership interest
2015 2014

Held by the Company
(a) Maxi-Cash Group Pte. Ltd. Singapore Pawn brokerage and 

investment holding 
100 100

(a) Gold N Gems Pte. Ltd. Singapore Jewellery retailing 100 100

(a) Maxi-Cash Jewellery Group Pte. Ltd. Singapore Jewellery retailing 100 100

Held by Maxi-Cash Group Pte. Ltd.
(a) Maxi-Cash (North) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Pawn brokerage 100 100

(a) Maxi-Cash (East) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Pawn brokerage 100 100

(a) Maxi-Cash (Central) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Pawn brokerage 100 100

(a) Maxi-Cash (West) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Pawn brokerage 100 100

(a) Maxi-Cash (Clementi) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Pawn brokerage 70 70
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12. Investment in subsidiaries (continued)

 The Company had the following subsidiaries as at 31 December (continued):

Name of Company

Country of 
incorporation 
and place of 

business Principal activities
Proportion (%) of 

ownership interest
2015 2014

Held by Maxi-Cash Group Pte. Ltd. (continued)
(a) Maxi-Cash Capital Pte. Ltd. Singapore Pawn brokerage 100 100

(a) Maxi-Cash Assets Pte. Ltd. Singapore Pawn brokerage 100 100

(a) Maxi-Cash Ventures Pte. Ltd. Singapore Pawn brokerage 100 100

(a) Maxi-Cash (Central 2) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Pawn brokerage 100 100

(a) Maxi-Cash (East 2) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Pawn brokerage 100 100

(a) Maxi-Cash (North East) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Pawn brokerage 100 100

(a) Maxi-Cash (North East 2) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Pawn brokerage 100 100

 (a) Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore

13. Inventories

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Consolidated statement of financial position:
Finished goods, at cost 29,027 30,618

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:
Inventories recognised as an expense:
- Material costs 84,587 77,473
- Write-down of inventories 4 4

 There was no charge placed on the Group’s inventories as at 31 December 2015. As at 31 December 2014, a floating 
charge has been placed on inventories with a carrying value of $548,000 as security for bank borrowings (Note 19).  
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14. Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade and other receivables (current):
Trade receivables 214,450 197,462
Other receivables 401 271 – –
Deposits 669 2,224 401 1,291

215,520 199,957 401 1,291

Other receivables (non-current):
Deposits 2,046 909 554 909

Total trade and other receivables 
 (current and non-current) 217,566 200,866 955 2,200
Add:
Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) – – 26,195 28,804
Cash and bank balances 9,472 9,264 903 1,444
Total loans and receivables 227,038 210,130 28,053 32,448

 Trade receivables comprise of loans to customers, interest receivables on loans to customers and trade receivables from 
retail and trading of pre-owned jewellery and watches.

 Loans to customers are loans extended under pawn broking which are interest-bearing at 1.0% for the first month and 
1.5% for the subsequent 6 months (2014: 1.0% for the first month and 1.5% for the subsequent 6 months). The quantum 
of loans granted to customers is based on a fraction of the value of the collaterals pledged to the Group.

 Trade receivables from retail and trading of pre-owned jewellery and watches which are non-interest-bearing and are on 
cash or generally 30 days’ terms. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values 
on initial recognition. 

 A floating charge has been placed on trade and other receivables with a carrying value of $176,376,000 (2014: 
$106,307,000) as security for bank borrowings (Note 19).
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14. Trade and other receivables (continued)

 Receivables that are impaired

 The Group’s trade and other receivables that are impaired at the end of the financial year and the movement of the 
allowance accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade and other receivables – nominal amounts 832 1,108 – –
Less: Allowance for impairment (208) (345) – –

624 763 – –

Movement in allowance accounts:
At 1 January (345) (254) – (46)
Charge for the year – (137) – –
Written back 137 46 – 46
At 31 December (208) (345) – –

 Trade and other receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the financial year relate to loans 
where recoverability is determined to be uncertain.
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15. Prepaid rent

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At cost 1,323 1,323 850 850
Less: Accumulated amortisation (1,228) (1,016) (850) (803)

95 307 – 47

Current portion 53 212 – 47
Non-current portion 42 95 – –

95 307 – 47

Movement in accumulated amortisation during the year is as follows:

Balance at 1 January 1,016 616 803 520
Amortisation for the year 212 400 47 283
Balance at 31 December 1,228 1,016 850 803

 Prepaid rent relates to payments for assignments of operating leases. It is amortised over the balance lease period if new 
leases are entered into upon the assignments or the expected balance lease period of the leases if no new leases are 
entered into upon the assignments, subject to a maximum of 3 years period.

16. Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 
 Due to immediate holding company (non-trade)
 Due to a related company (non-trade)

 The amounts due from subsidiaries are non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free and receivable on demand.

 The amount due to immediate holding company is non-trade related, unsecured, repayable on demand and is to be 
settled in cash.

 As at 31 December 2015, the amount due to immediate holding company is interest-free. As at 31 December 2014, the 
amount due to immediate holding company is interest-bearing at interest rate ranging from 1.80% to 1.95% per annum 
for an amount of $101,511,000 and interest-free for an amount of $12,685,000.

 The amount due to a related company is non-trade related, unsecured, interest-bearing at interest rate ranging from 
2.40% to 2.90% per annum, repayable on demand and is to be settled in cash.
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17. Cash and bank balances

 For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following as at 31 
December:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at banks and on hand 9,472 9,264 903 1,444

 A floating charge has been placed on cash and bank balances with a carrying value of $4,152,000 (2014: $3,314,000) as 
security for bank borrowings (Note 19).

18. Trade and other payables

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade and other payables (current):
Trade payables 245 497 66 99
Other payables 381 540 69 53
Accrued operating expenses
- Payroll related 1,780 1,780 552 509
- Others 800 622 225 203
Deposits received 11 100 2 59

3,217 3,539 914 923
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18. Trade and other payables (continued)

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other payables (non-current):
Deposits received 23 – 23 –
Total trade and other payables 3,240 3,539 937 923
Add:
Due to immediate holding company (non-trade) 8,178 114,196 8,178 12,685
Due to a related company (non-trade) 51,660 – – –
Interest-bearing loans 129,610 63,710 – –
Less:
Accrued operating expenses
- Payroll related (192) (186) (83) (84)
Total financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 192,496 181,259 9,032 13,524

 Trade and other payables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayment is based on payment terms and conditions 
agreed. 

 Trade and other payables denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December is as follows:

Group Company
2015 2014 2015 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Hong Kong Dollar 8 8 – –
United States Dollar – 1 – –
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19. Interest-bearing loans

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Secured borrowings
Current
Bank borrowings 129,610 63,710

 (a) Details of securities granted for the secured borrowings are as follows:

  The bank borrowings are secured by way of a fixed and floating charge on all assets of certain subsidiaries and 
corporate guarantee by the Company and/or the immediate holding company.

 (b) Effective interest rate

  Weighted average effective interest rates per annum of total borrowings at the end of the financial year are as 
follows:

2015 2014

Bank borrowings 3.01% 2.18%

20. Share capital

Group and Company
2015 2014

No. of shares $’000 No. of shares $’000

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares:
At 1 January 562,636,624 64,035 468,863,996 64,035
Bonus shares – – 93,772,628(1) –
Balance at 31 December 562,636,624 64,035 562,636,624 64,035
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20. Share capital (continued)

 The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary 
shares carry one vote per share without restrictions. The ordinary shares have no par value.

 Note

 (1) On 19 February 2014, the Company proposed a bonus issue of up to 93,772,799 new ordinary shares in the capital of the 
Company, on the basis of one Bonus Share credited as fully paid for every five existing ordinary shares. The bonus shares were 
approved by SGX-ST on 28 April 2014 and 93,772,628 bonus shares were listed and quoted on Catalist on 27 May 2014.

21. Related party transactions

 (a) Sale and purchase of goods and services

  In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following 
significant transactions between the Group and related parties took place on terms agreed between the parties 
during the financial year:

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Purchases from a related company 316 150
Sales to a related company 4,428 5,444
Rental paid to a related company 428 408
Corporate services charged by immediate holding company 480 180
Rental paid to a director related company 462 372
Interest expense paid to immediate holding company 503 1,263
Interest expense paid to a related company 613 –
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21. Related party transactions (continued)

 (b) Commitments with related parties

  As at the end of the financial year, the Group had lease commitments in respect of retail outlet premises with 
related parties. Lease terms do not contain restrictions on the Group’s activities concerning dividends, additional 
debt or further leasing.

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Rental payable to a related company:
Not later than one year 428 428
Later than one year but not later than five years 428 857

856 1,285

Rental payable to a director related company:
Not later than one year 520 372
Later than one year but not later than five years 408 478

928 850

 (c) Compensation of key management personnel

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefits 1,220 976
Central Provident Fund contributions 68 59
Share-based payments 33 40
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 1,321 1,075

Comprise amounts paid to:
Directors of the Company 690 467
Other key management personnel 631 608

1,321 1,075
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22. Commitments 

 (a) Operating lease commitments - As lessor

  The Group entered into commercial property leases on sublease of its existing lease agreements. These non-
cancellable leases have remaining lease terms of less than three years.

  Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Not later than one year 94 68
Later than one year but not later than five years 109 –

203 68

 (b) Operating lease commitments - As lessee

  As at the end of the financial year, the Group had lease commitments in respect of office and retail outlet 
premises. Certain of the leases contain an escalation clause and provides for contingent rentals based on a 
percentage of sales derived. Lease terms do not contain restrictions on the Group’s activities concerning 
dividends, additional debt or further leasing.

  Operating lease payments recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 amounted to $9,155,000 (2014: $9,257,000).

  Future minimum rental payables under non-cancellable operating leases as the end of the financial year are as 
follows: 

Group
2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Not later than one year 8,997 7,600
Later than one year but not later than five years 10,179 5,775

19,176 13,375
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23. Segmental information

 Business segments

 The segment reporting format is determined to be business segments as the Group’s risks and rates of return are 
affected predominantly by differences in the products and services produced. The operating businesses are organised 
and managed separately according to the nature of the products and services provided, with each segment representing 
a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets.

 The Group is organised into two main operating business segments, namely:

 (a) Pawnbroking; and

 (b) Retail and trading of pre-owned jewellery and watches.

 Other operations include rental of properties and provision of other support services.

 Allocation basis and transfer pricing

 Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be 
allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly provision for taxation, deferred tax liabilities and 
deferred tax assets.

 Transfer prices between business segments are set on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with 
third parties. Segment revenue, expenses and results include transfers between business segments. These transfers are 
eliminated on consolidation.

 Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment.

 As the business activities of the Group are conducted in Singapore, group reporting format by geographical segment is 
not presented.
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23.  Segmental information (continued)

Pawnbroking

Retail and 
trading of 
pre-owned 
jewellery 

and watches Others Elimination Note Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2015
Revenue 28,149 92,904 – – 121,053
Inter-segment revenue 33,427 – – (33,427) A –

Results
Segment results 7,409 977 1,154 (1,178) 8,362
Finance costs (3,873) (154) – – (4,027)
Profit before tax 3,536 823 1,154 (1,178) B 4,335

Segment assets 269,707 32,688 28,143 (70,452) C 260,086
Unallocated assets 948
Total assets 261,034

Segment liabilities 231,785 22,109 9,116 (70,322) D 192,688
Unallocated liabilities 855
Total liabilities 193,543

Capital expenditure 664 28 12 – 704
Depreciation and amortisation 1,546 15 79 – 1,640
Other significant non-cash expenses 127 4 7 – E 138
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23. Segmental information (continued)

Pawnbroking

Retail and 
trading of 
pre-owned 
jewellery 

and watches Others Elimination Note Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014
Revenue 25,944 83,661 – – 109,605
Inter-segment revenue 33,077 3 – (33,080) A –

Results
Segment results 4,530 143 1,154 (1,178) 4,649
Finance costs (2,846) (1) (83) 85 (2,845)
Profit before tax 1,684 142 1,071 (1,093) B 1,804

Segment assets 246,187 32,346 32,792 (65,255) C 246,070
Unallocated assets 1,150
Total assets 247,220

Segment liabilities 210,166 22,657 13,790 (65,168) D 181,445
Unallocated liabilities 1,069
Total liabilities 182,514

Capital expenditure 2,084 10 54 – 2,148
Depreciation and amortisation 1,530 13 312 – 1,855
Other significant non-cash expenses 293 4 (46) – E 251
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23. Segmental information (continued)

 Notes
 
 A Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation.

 B The following items are deducted from segment profit to arrive at “profit before tax” presented in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income:

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Profit from inter-segment sales (1,178) (1,093)
 
 C  The following items are deducted from segment assets to arrive at total assets reported in the consolidated 

statements of financial position:

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Inter-segment assets (70,452) (65,255)

 D  The following items are deducted from segment liabilities to arrive at total liabilities reported in the consolidated 
statements of financial position:

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Inter-segment liabilities (70,322) (65,168)

 E Other non-cash expenses consist of the following items, as presented in the respective notes to the financial 
statements:

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

(Write back of)/allowance for doubtful debts, net (137) 91
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 264 79
Write-down of inventories 4 4
Financial losses on pledged items not fully covered by insurance 7 77

138 251
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24. Dividends

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Declared and paid during the financial year:
Dividends on ordinary shares
Final exempt (one-tier) dividend in respect of profits for 2014: 0.20 cents 
 (2013: 0.25 cents) per share 1,125 1,172

Proposed but not recognised as a liability as at 31 December:
Dividend on ordinary shares, subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting:
Final exempt (one-tier) dividend in respect of profits for 2015: 0.50 cents 
 (2014: 0.20 cents) per share 2,813 1,125

25. Financial risk management objectives and policies

 The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial 
instruments. The key financial risks include liquidity risk and credit risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees 
policies and procedures for the management of these risks, which are executed by the Assistant Finance Director. The 
Audit Committee provides independent oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process. It is, and has 
been throughout the current and previous financial year, the Group’s policy that no derivatives shall be undertaken except 
for use as hedging instruments where appropriate and cost-efficient. The Group and the Company do not apply hedge 
accounting.

 The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and Company’s exposure to the above-mentioned financial 
risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

 There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and 
measures the risks.

 (a) Liquidity risk

  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations 
due to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from 
mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities for its business. The Group’s and the Company’s 
objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit 
facilities.

  The Group and the Company monitor and maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by 
the management to finance the Group’s and the Company’s operations and mitigate the effect of fluctuations in 
cash flows. 
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25. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

 (a) Liquidity risk (continued)

  Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

  The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities 
at the end of the financial year based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

1 year or less 1 to 5 years Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Group
2015
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables 215,520 2,046 217,566
Cash and bank balances 9,472 – 9,472
Total undiscounted financial assets 224,992 2,046 227,038

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables 3,025 – 3,025
Interest-bearing loans 129,893 – 129,893
Due to a related company (non-trade) 51,660 – 51,660
Due to immediate holding company (non-trade) 8,178 23 8,201
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 192,756 23 192,779
Total net undiscounted financial assets 32,236 2,023 34,259
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25. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

 (a) Liquidity risk (continued)

1 year or less 1 to 5 years Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Group
2014
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables 199,957 909 200,866
Cash and bank balances 9,264 – 9,264
Total undiscounted financial assets 209,221 909 210,130

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables 3,353 – 3,353
Interest-bearing loans 63,835 – 63,835
Due to immediate holding company (non-trade) 114,196 – 114,196
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 181,384 – 181,384
Total net undiscounted financial assets 27,837 909 28,746
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25. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

 (a) Liquidity risk (continued)

1 year or less 1 to 5 years Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Company
2015
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables 401 554 955
Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 26,195 – 26,195
Cash and bank balances 903 – 903
Total undiscounted financial assets 27,499 554 28,053

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables 831 23 854
Due to immediate holding company  (non-trade) 8,178 – 8,178
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 9,009 23 9,032
Total net undiscounted financial assets 18,490 531 19,021

2014
Financial assets:
Trade and other receivables 1,291 909 2,200
Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 28,804 – 28,804
Cash and bank balances 1,444 – 1,444
Total undiscounted financial assets 31,539 909 32,448

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables 839 – 839
Due to immediate holding company (non-trade) 12,685 – 12,685
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 13,524 – 13,524
Total net undiscounted financial assets 18,015 909 18,924
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25. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

 (b) Credit risk 

  Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on 
its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade receivables and 
cash and cash equivalents. No other financial asset carries a significant exposure to credit risk.

  Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

  Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are loans to customers that have not defaulted. Cash 
and cash equivalents are placed with reputable financial institutions or companies with high credit ratings and no 
history of default. They are neither past due nor impaired.

  Financial assets that are either past due or impaired

  Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 14 (Trade and 
other receivables).

26. Fair value of assets and liabilities

 (a) Fair value hierarchy

  The Group categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that is dependent on the valuation 
inputs used as follows:

  Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access 
at the measurement date,

  Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly, and 

  Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

  Fair value measurements that use inputs of different hierarchy levels are categorised in its entirety in the same 
level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.
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26. Fair value of assets and liabilities (continued)

 (b) Assets and liabilities not carried at fair value but for which fair value is disclosed

  The following table shows an analysis of the Group’s and the Company’s assets not measured at fair value at 31 
December 2015 and 2014 but for which fair value is disclosed:

Fair value measurements at 
the end of the financial year using

Significant 
un-observable 

inputs
Carrying 
amount

Significant 
un-observable 

inputs
Carrying 
amount

(Level 3) (Level 3)
2015 2015 2014 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Assets:
Non-current:
Other receivables 1,992 2,046 895 909

Company
Assets:
Non-current:
Other receivables 551 554 895 909

  Determination of fair value

  Other receivables

  The fair values as disclosed in the table above are estimated by discounting expected future cash flows at 
market incremental lending rate for similar types of lending, borrowing or leasing arrangements at the end of the 
financial year.
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26. Fair value of assets and liabilities (continued)

 (c) Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value

  The fair value of financial assets and liabilities by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value are as follows: 

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

2015 2015 2014 2014
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
Financial assets:
Non-current:
Other receivables 2,046 1,992 909 895

Company
Financial assets:
Non-current:
Other receivables 554 551 909 895

27. Capital management

 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. 

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years 
ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014. 
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27. Capital management (continued)

 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group 
includes within net debt, trade and other payables, due to immediate holding company (non-trade) and a related 
company (non-trade), interest-bearing loans, less cash and bank balances. Capital refers to equity attributable to owners 
of the Company.

2015 2014
$’000 $’000

Trade and other payables 3,240 3,539
Due to immediate holding company (non-trade) 8,178 114,196
Due to a related company (non-trade) 51,660 –
Interest-bearing loans 129,610 63,710
Less: Cash and bank balances (9,472) (9,264)
Net debt 183,216 172,181
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 66,782 64,064
Capital and net debt 249,998 236,245
Gearing ratio 73% 73%

28. Authorisation of financial statements for issue

 The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
directors’ resolution dated 21 March 2016. 
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ISSUED AND FULLY PAID-UP CAPITAL : S$64,034,901    
NO. OF SHARES ISSUED : 562,636,624    
CLASS OF SHARES : ORDINARY SHARES    
VOTING RIGHTS : ONE VOTE PER SHARE    
NO. OF TREASURY SHARES : NIL

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
(As recorded in the Register of Members and Depository Register)

SIZE OF
SHAREHOLDINGS

NO. OF
SHAREHOLDERS

% OF
SHAREHOLDERS NO. OF SHARES % OF SHARES

1 - 99 267 8.69 12,133 0.00
100 - 1,000 871 28.34 449,346 0.08
1,001 - 10,000 906 29.48 3,495,907 0.62
10,001 - 1,000,000 1,006 32.74 68,472,273 12.17
1,000,001   &   ABOVE 23 0.75 490,206,965 87.13
TOTAL 3,073  100.00  562,636,624  100.00
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TOP TWENTY SHAREHOLDERS 
(As recorded in the Register of Members and Depository Register) 
  
NAME OF SHAREHOLDERS NO. OF SHARES % OF SHARES

ASPIAL CORPORATION LTD 382,069,474 67.91
MLHS HOLDINGS PTE LTD 43,687,019 7.76
CIMB SECURITIES (S’PORE) PTE LTD 11,702,942 2.08
PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 8,753,799 1.56
KOH WEE SENG 6,797,827 1.21
ON FOO LIN 6,000,000 1.07
MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE LTD 4,968,573 0.88
UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 4,309,139 0.77
DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 3,321,905 0.59
LEE TIONG ANG 2,387,404 0.42
FRANK GLOBAL JEWELLERY CO. PTE. LTD. 1,520,640 0.27
RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD 1,418,180 0.25
LEE SAU LEUNG 1,329,600 0.24
UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 1,325,318 0.24
ONG CHU TEK 1,262,528 0.22
RHB SECURITIES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 1,248,250 0.22
KOH LEE HWEE 1,235,555 0.22
KOH KIAN SOO 1,214,833 0.22
LIM SWEE ANN 1,179,502 0.21
OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD 1,178,363 0.21
TOTAL 486,910,851 86.55
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)        
  

DIRECT INTEREST DEEMED INTEREST
NAME OF SHAREHOLDERS NO. OF SHARES % OF SHARES NO. OF SHARES % OF SHARES

ASPIAL CORPORATION LIMITED (1) 382,069,474 67.91% – –
KOH WEE SENG (2) (3) 24,975,681 4.44% 425,957,247 75.71%
KOH LEE HWEE (2) (5) 1,235,555 0.22% 426,470,626 75.80%
KO LEE MENG (2) (4) 1,957,292 0.35% 427,000,808 75.89%
MLHS HOLDINGS PTE LTD (1) 43,687,019 7.76% 382,069,474 67.91%
          
Notes:          
          
(1) MLHS Holdings Pte Ltd is the controlling shareholder of Aspial Corporation Limited, holding approximately 59.06% of the shareholdings 

of Aspial Corporation Limited as at 15 March 2016. MLHS Holdings Pte Ltd is a private limited company incorporated in Singapore on 14 
January 1994. It is an investment holding company. The shareholders of MLHS Holdings Pte Ltd are Koh Wee Seng (47.0%), Ko Lee Meng 
(25.75%), Koh Lee Hwee (20.25%), Tan Su Lan @ Tan Soo Lung (6.00%) and the estate of Koh Chong Him @ Ko Chong Sung (1.00%). 
Tan Su Lan @ Tan Soo Lung and Koh Chong Him @ Ko Chong Sung (deceased) are the parents of Koh Wee Seng, Koh Lee Hwee and  
Ko Lee Meng.   

(2) Koh Wee Seng, Koh Lee Hwee and Ko Lee Meng are directors and substantial shareholders of Aspial Corporation Limited through their 
shareholdings in MLHS Holdings Pte Ltd. In addition, Koh Wee Seng has 18.41% direct interest in Aspial Corporation Limited as at 15 
March 2016. Koh Wee Seng is the president and chief executive officer of Aspial Corporation Limited. Koh Lee Hwee is an executive director 
and Ko Lee Meng is a non-executive director of Aspial Corporation Limited.      
    

(3) Koh Wee Seng’s direct interest derived from 6,797,827 shares held in his own name and 18,177,854 shares held in the name of three 
nominee accounts. The deemed interest derived from 200,754 shares held by his spouse and 382,069,474 shares held by Aspial 
Corporation Limited and 43,687,019 held by MLHS Holdings Pte Ltd by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act (Chapter 50) of Singapore.

(4) Ko Lee Meng’s direct interest derived from 3,951 shares held in her own name and 1,953,341 shares held in the name of three nominee 
accounts. The deemed interest derived from 1,244,315 shares held by her spouse and 382,069,474 shares held by Aspial Corporation 
Limited and 43,687,019 held by MLHS Holdings Pte Ltd by virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act (Chapter 50) of Singapore.

  
(5) Koh Lee Hwee’s direct interest derived from 1,235,555 shares held in her own name and deemed interest derived from 714,133 shares 

held by her spouse and 382,069,474 shares held by Aspial Corporation Limited and 43,687,019 held by MLHS Holdings Pte Ltd by virtue of 
Section 7 of the Companies Act (Chapter 50) of Singapore.

SHAREHOLDINGS HELD IN THE HANDS OF THE PUBLIC

Based on the information provided to the Company as at 15 March 2016 and to the best knowledge of the Directors, 
approximately 17.57% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company was held in the hands of the public as defined in the Listing 
Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “Catalist Rules”). Accordingly, 
Rule 723 of the Catalist Rules which requires at least 10% of a listed issuer’s equity securities to be held by the public is 
complied with.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Maxi-Cash Financial Services Corporation Ltd. (the 
“Company”) will be held at 55 Ubi Avenue 1, #06-05, Ubi 55, Singapore 408935, on Wednesday, 27 April 2016 at  
10.00 a.m., for the purpose of transacting the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 
December 2015 and the Directors’ Statement and the Auditor’s Report thereon.

Resolution 1

2. To declare a final tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of 0.50 Singapore cents per share in respect of the 
financial year ended 31 December 2015. (2014: 0.20 Singapore cents)

Resolution 2

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$127,250 for the financial year ended 31 December 
2015. (2014: S$168,000)

Resolution 3

4. To re-elect the following Directors retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 93 of the Company’s 
Constitution and who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election, as a Director of the Company:-

(i) Mr Koh Wee Seng

(ii) Mr Tan Keh Yan, Peter 

Resolution 4(i)

Resolution 4(ii)
(See Explanatory Notes)

5.

6.

To re-elect Ms Goh Bee Leong as a Director of the Company pursuant to Article 92 of the Company’s 
Constitution. 
(See Explanatory Notes)

To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to 
fix their remuneration.

Resolution 5

Resolution 6

SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass, with or without modifications, the following Ordinary Resolutions:-

7. Authority to issue shares Resolution 7

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore and Rule 806 of the Listing 
Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist (the “Catalist Rules”) of the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”), the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to:

(a) (i) issue shares in the capital of the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus 
or otherwise; and/or 
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 (ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively “Instruments”) that might or 
would require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue 
of (as well as adjustments to) options, warrants, debentures or other instruments 
convertible into shares,

 at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons 
as the Directors may in their absolute discretion, deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) 
issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while this 
Resolution was in force, 

PROVIDED THAT:

(1) the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the 
Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) to be issued pursuant to this 
Resolution shall not exceed one hundred per cent (100%) of the total number of issued 
Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares to be 
issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company shall not exceed fifty 
per cent (50%) of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital 
of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2)  below) or any such 
other limit as may be prescribed by the Catalist Rules as at the date this Resolution is passed;

(2) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of 
determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) 
above, the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) shall be based on the 
total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the 
time of passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:

 (a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

 (b) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards which are 
outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution, provided that 
the share options or awards (as the case may be) were granted in compliance with 
Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Catalist Rules; and

 (c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the 
provisions of the Catalist Rules for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been 
waived by the SGX-ST) and the Constitution of the Company; and
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(4) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue 
in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the 
date by which the Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, 
whichever is earlier.

(See Explanatory Notes)

8. Authority to issue shares under the Maxi-Cash Performance Share Plan Resolution 8

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore, authority be and is hereby 
given to the Directors of the Company to offer and grant awards (“Awards”) in accordance with the 
provisions of the Maxi-Cash Performance Share Plan and to allot and issue from time to time such 
number of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (“Ordinary Shares”) as may be required 
to be issued pursuant to the vesting of the Awards granted under the Maxi-Cash Performance Share 
Plan, provided always, the aggregate number of Ordinary Shares to be allotted and issued pursuant 
to the Maxi-Cash Performance Share Plan, when added to the number of Ordinary Shares issued and 
issuable in respect of all Awards, and all Ordinary Shares issued and issuable in respect of all options 
or awards granted under any other share incentive scheme or share plans adopted by the Company 
and for the time being in force, shall not exceed fifteen per centum (15%) of the total issued share 
capital (excluding treasury shares) of the Company on the date preceding the date of the relevant 
grant and that such authority shall from time to time, unless revoked or varied by the Company in 
a general meeting, continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to 
be held, whichever is earlier.
(See Explanatory Notes)

9. Authority to issue shares under the Maxi-Cash Financial Services Corporation Ltd Scrip 
Dividend Scheme

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore, and Rule 806 of the 
Catalist Rules, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised and empowered to issue 
such number of shares in the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the Maxi-Cash 
Financial Services Corporation Ltd Scrip Dividend Scheme from time to time and that such authority 
shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue in force until the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

(See Explanatory Notes)

Resolution 9
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10. Proposed renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate Resolution 10

That for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore, the 
Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to make purchases of issued and fully-paid 
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (the “Shares”) from time to time (whether by way of 
market purchases or off-market purchases on an equal access scheme) of up to ten per cent (10%) 
of the issued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (ascertained as at date of the passing of 
this Resolution 10) at the price of up to but not exceeding the Maximum Price, in accordance with 
the “Guidelines on Share Purchases” set out in Annex A of the Appendix to Shareholders dated 8 
April 2016 for the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate (the “Appendix”) and this mandate shall, 
unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force until the date that the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is the 
earlier.

In this Ordinary Resolution, “Maximum Price” means the maximum price at which the Shares can be 
purchased pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate, which shall not exceed the sum constituting five 
per cent (5%) above the average closing price of the Shares over the period of five (5) Market Days 
(“Market Day” being a day on which the SGX-ST is open for securities trading) in which transactions 
in the Shares on the SGX-ST were recorded, in the case of a market purchase, before the day 
on which such purchase is made, and, in the case of an off-market purchase on an equal access 
scheme, immediately preceding the date of offer by the Company, as the case may be, and adjusted 
for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant five (5) day period.

(See Explanatory Notes)

OTHER BUSINESS

11. To transact any other business.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Lim Swee Ann
Company Secretary
8 April 2016, Singapore
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Explanatory Notes:

Resolution 4(i)

Mr Koh Wee Seng will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Non-Executive Chairman of the Company. Detailed information 
on Mr Koh Wee Seng can be found under the sections entitled “Board of Directors”, “Corporate Governance Report” and “Directors’ 
Statement” of the Company’s Annual Report 2015.
 
Resolution 4(ii)

Mr Tan Keh Yan, Peter will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the 
Nominating Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr Tan Keh Yan, Peter is considered by the Board of Directors to be independent for the 
purpose of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules. Detailed information on Mr Tan Keh Yan, Peter can be found under the sections entitled “Board of 
Directors”, “Corporate Governance Report” and “Directors’ Statement” of the Company’s Annual Report 2015.

Resolution 5

Ms Goh Bee Leong will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of the Nominating Committee and a member of the 
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Ms Goh Bee Leong is considered by the Board of Directors to be independent for the purpose 
of Rule 704(7) of the Catalist Rules. Detailed information on Ms Goh Bee Leong can be found under the sections entitled “Board of Directors”, 
“Corporate Governance Report” and “Directors’ Statement” of the Company’s Annual Report 2015.

Resolution 7

The Ordinary Resolution no. 7, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion of the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, or such authority is 
varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant Instruments convertible into shares 
and to issue shares pursuant to such Instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total one hundred per cent (100%) of the total number of 
issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company, of which fifty per cent (50%) may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis 
to the shareholders of the Company.

For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the total number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) will 
be calculated based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time this Ordinary 
Resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options or vesting 
of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time when this Ordinary Resolution is passed and any subsequent bonus issue, 
consolidation or subdivision of shares.

Resolution 8

The Ordinary Resolution no. 8, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, to allot and issue Shares in the Company of up to a number 
not exceeding in total fifteen per cent (15%) of the total issued Shares in the capital of the Company from time to time pursuant to the vesting of 
Awards under the Maxi-Cash Performance Share Plan.

Resolution 9 

The Ordinary Resolution no. 9, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion of the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held or when such 
authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares in the Company from time to time 
pursuant to the Maxi-Cash Financial Services Corporation Ltd Scrip Dividend Scheme. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 9 
March 2016 for details on the Maxi-Cash Financial Services Corporation Ltd Scrip Dividend Scheme.
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Resolution 10

The Ordinary Resolution no. 10, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, from the date of the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company until the date the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is to be held or is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier, 
to make purchases (whether by way of market purchases or off-market purchases on an equal access scheme) from time to time of up to ten per 
cent (10%) of the total number of issued Shares excluding any Shares which are held as treasury shares by the Company, at prices up to but not 
exceeding the Maximum Price. The rationale for, the authority and limitation on, the sources of funds to be used for the purchase or acquisition 
including the amount of financing and the financial effects of the purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase 
Mandate are set out in greater detail in Annex A of the Appendix. 

Notes:

1. A member of the Company (other than a Relevant Intermediary as defined in Note 2 below) entitled to attend and vote at the Annual 
General Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote in his or her stead. A proxy need not be a member 
of the Company and where a member appoints two (2) proxies, he or she shall specify the proportion of his or her shareholding to be 
represented by each proxy in the instrument appointing the proxies. 

2. A member of the Company who is a Relevant Intermediary entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint 
more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote in his or her stead, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a 
different share or shares held by such member. A proxy need not be a member of the Company and where a member appoints more than 
two (2) proxies, the number and class of shares to be represented by each proxy must be stated.

 “Relevant Intermediary” means: 

 (a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act, Chapter 19 of Singapore or a wholly owned subsidiary of such a banking 
corporation, whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in that capacity; 

 (b) a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities and Futures Act, 
Chapter 289 of Singapore and who holds shares in that capacity; or 

 (c) the Central Provident Fund Board (“CPF Board”) established by the Central Provident Fund Act, Chapter 36 of Singapore, in 
respect of shares purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the 
contributions and interest standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the CPF Board holds those shares in 
the capacity of an intermediary pursuant to or in accordance with that subsidiary legislation.

3. A member of the Company which is a corporation is entitled to appoint its authorised representative or proxy to vote on its behalf.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing.  Where the 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its common seal or under the hand 
of its attorney or a duly authorised officer.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 80 Raffles Place, #32-01 UOB Plaza 1, 
Singapore 048624 not less than forty eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting of the Company.

6. This notice has been prepared by the Company and its contents have been reviewed by the Company’s sponsor (“Sponsor”), Canaccord 
Genuity Singapore Pte. Ltd., for compliance with the relevant rules of the SGX-ST. The Sponsor has not independently verified the contents 
of this notice. This notice has not been examined or approved by the SGX-ST and the SGX-ST assumes no responsibility for the contents of 
this notice, including the correctness of any of the statements or opinions made, or reports contained in this notice.

 The contact person for the Sponsor is Ms Goh Mei Xian, Associate Director and Deputy Head of Continuing Sponsorship, Canaccord 
Genuity Singapore Pte. Ltd., at 77 Robinson Road #21-02 Singapore 068896, telephone (65) 6854-6160.
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PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY: 

By attending the Annual General Meeting of the Company and/or any adjournment thereof or submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) 
and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General Meeting of the Company and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of 
the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of 
the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating 
to the Annual General Meeting of the Company (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with 
any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the 
personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent 
of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such 
proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, 
liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.



&
MAXI-CASH FINANCIAL SERVICES CORPORATION LTD.

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration number: 200806968Z)

PROXY FORM – ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

I/We,  NRIC/ Passport/ Co. Reg. No. 

of  (Address)
being a member/members of MAXI-CASH FINANCIAL SERVICES CORPORATION LTD. (the “Company”) hereby appoint:
  

Name Address NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name Address NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of 
Shareholdings (%)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company as my/our proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for 
me/us on my/our behalf at the AGM of the Company to be held at 55 Ubi Avenue 1, #06-05, Ubi 55, Singapore 408935 on Wednesday, 
27 April 2016 at 10.00 a.m., and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We* direct my/our* proxy/proxies* to vote for or against the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific 
direction as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies* will vote or abstain from voting at his/their* discretion, as he/they* will on any other 
matters arising at the AGM.

All resolutions put to the vote of the AGM shall be decided by the way of poll. Please indicate the number of votes as appropriate. 

*Delete as appropriate. 



No. Ordinary Resolutions
Number of Votes

For *
Number of Votes 

Against*
Ordinary Business

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2015 and the Directors’ Statement and the Auditor’s Report 
thereon.

2. To declare a final tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of 0.50 Singapore cents per share in 
respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2015.

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$127,250 for the financial year ended  
31 December 2015.

4(i). To re-elect Mr Koh Wee Seng retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 93 of the 
Company’s Constitution and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, as a 
Director of the Company.

4(ii). To re-elect Mr Tan Keh Yan, Peter retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 93 of the 
Company’s Constitution and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, as a 
Director of the Company.

5. To re-elect Ms Goh Bee Leong as a Director of the Company pursuant to Article 92 of 
the Company’s Constitution. 

6. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise 
the Directors to fix their remuneration.
Special Business

7. To grant the Directors the authority to issue shares.
8. To grant the Directors the authority to issue shares under the Maxi-Cash Performance 

Share Plan.
9. To grant the Directors the authority to issue shares under the Maxi-Cash Financial 

Services Corporation Ltd Scrip Dividend Scheme.
10. To approve the proposed renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate.

*  If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please indicate with a “X” within the box provided.  Alternatively, please indicate the number 
of votes as appropriate.

Dated this   day of   2016.

Total number of Shares Held
CDP Register
Member’s Register
TOTAL

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

(*) IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ THE NOTES OVERLEAF



Notes:

1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 
81SF of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore), you should insert that number. If you have shares registered in your name in the 
Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that number. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and shares 
registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed 
to relate to all the shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company (other than a Relevant Intermediary as defined in Note 3 below) entitled to attend and vote at the AGM of the Company is 
entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote on his or her behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company and where a 
member appoints two (2) proxies, the member must specify the proportion of shareholdings to be represented by each proxy. If no such proportion or 
number is specified the first named proxy shall be treated as representing 100% of the shareholding and any second named proxy as an alternate to the 
first named.

3.  A member of the Company who is a Relevant Intermediary entitled to attend and vote at the AGM of the Company is entitled to appoint more than two 
(2) proxies to attend and vote on his or her behalf, but each proxy must be appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by 
such member. A proxy need not be a member of the Company and where a member appoints more than two (2) proxies, the number and class of shares 
to be represented by each proxy must be stated.  

 “Relevant Intermediary” means:  

 (a) a banking corporation licensed under the Banking Act, Chapter 19 of Singapore or a wholly owned subsidiary of such a banking corporation, 
whose business includes the provision of nominee services and who holds shares in  that capacity;  

 (b) a person holding a capital markets services licence to provide custodial services for securities under the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 
of Singapore and who holds shares in that capacity; or  

 (c) the Central Provident Fund Board (“CPF Board”) established by the Central Provident Fund Act, Chapter 36 of Singapore, in respect of shares 
purchased under the subsidiary legislation made under that Act providing for the making of investments from the contributions and interest 
standing to the credit of members of the Central Provident Fund, if the CPF Board holds those shares in the capacity of an intermediary pursuant 
to or in accordance with that subsidiary legislation. 

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 80 Raffles Place #32-01 UOB Plaza 1 Singapore 
048624, not less than 48 hours before the time set for the AGM of the Company.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy must be signed by the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing.  Where the instrument appointing a proxy is 
executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6. Where an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney (or other authority) or a duly 
certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be 
treated as invalid.

7. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its Directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act as its 
representative at the AGM of the Company, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

8. The Company shall be entitled to reject an instrument of proxy if it is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions of the 
appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the instrument of proxy. In addition, in the case of shares entered in the 
Depository Register, the Company may reject an instrument of proxy if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his 
name in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM of the Company, as certified by The Central Depository 
(Pte) Limited to the Company.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY: 

By attending the AGM of the Company and/or any adjournment thereof or submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, 
speak and vote at the AGM of the Company and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of 
the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or its agents) of proxies 
and representatives appointed for the AGM of the Company (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, 
minutes and other documents relating to the AGM of the Company (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply 
with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal 
data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the 
Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result 
of the member’s breach of warranty.


